## Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory

**Recent Work** 

## Title

ENZYMATIC HYDROLYSIS OF CORN STOVER PROCESS DEVELOPMENT AND EVALUATION

## Permalink

https://escholarship.org/uc/item/1bp1h4vm

## Authors

Perez, J. Wilke, C.R. Blanch, H.W.

Publication Date 1981-12-01

BC-1422



# Lawrence Berkeley Laboratory

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

LAWRENCE BERKELEY LABORATOR

## ENERGY & ENVIRONMENT LUV 1 6 1982 DIVISION

ENZYMATIC HYDROLYSIS OF CORN STOVER PROCESS DEVELOPMENT AND EVALUATION

Javier Perez, Charles R. Wilke and Harvey W. Blanch (\*M.S. thesis)

December 1981

## TWO-WEEK LOAN COPY

This is a Library Circulating Copy which may be borrowed for two weeks. For a personal retention copy, call Tech. Info. Division, Ext. 6782.



#### DISCLAIMER

This document was prepared as an account of work sponsored by the United States Government. While this document is believed to contain correct information, neither the United States Government nor any agency thereof, nor the Regents of the University of California, nor any of their employees, makes any warranty, express or implied, or assumes any legal responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, or usefulness of any information, apparatus, product, or process disclosed, or represents that its use would not infringe privately owned rights. Reference herein to any specific commercial product, process, or service by its trade name, trademark, manufacturer, or otherwise, does not necessarily constitute or imply its endorsement, recommendation, or favoring by the United States Government or any agency thereof, or the Regents of the University of California. The views and opinions of authors expressed herein do not necessarily state or reflect those of the United States Government or any agency thereof or the Regents of the University of California.

## ENZYMATIC HYDROLYSIS OF CORN STOVER PROCESS DEVELOPMENT AND EVALUATION

#### Javier Perez\*

Charles R. Wilke and Harvey W. Blanch

\*M.S. Thesis

December 1981

Department of Chemical Engineering and Lawrence Berkeley Laboratory University of California Berkeley, California 94720

This work was supported by the Director, Office for Energy Research, Office of Basic Energy Sciences, Division of the Chemical Science Processes and Techniques Branch of the U.S. Department of Energy, and by the Assistant Secretary for Conservation and Solar Energy under Contract No. DE-ACO3-76SF00098, and by the Solar Energy Research Institute Under Contract No. DR-0-905801.

#### ACNOWLEDGEMENTS

I wish to acknowledge those who helped me in conducting this work. First, I am greatly indebted to Professors C.R. Wilke and H.W. Blanch for their support and guidance during the entire course of my graduate work. My colleagues, Neil Hendy, Brian Maiorella, Ken Spall, Bruce VickRoy, Stephen Wald, Harry Wong, and Dale Wiley provided many helpful suggestions. Aldo Sciamanna's help was invaluable in all areas related to administration and also provided many helpful suggestions on experiments. Thanks to Carol Fong and Stephen Inn for conducting experiments and to Linda Sindellar and Bill Long for their help with assays. Finally, thanks to Marianne Morgan, Myra Baker, and Gloria Pelatowski for preparing this manuscript.

i

#### ABSTRACT

The hydrolysis of acid treated corn stover with celluт. reesei Rut-C-30 was evaluated. Experiments lase from were conducted with substrate concentrations of 5-25% bv weight, enzyme activities of 0.5-7 IU/ml and residence times of 24-48 hours. Maximum conversion was 55% for specific activity of 25-30 IU/g. Optimum cellobiase cellulase activity for minimum cellobiose production was found to be approximately 1.8 cellobiase units to 1 FPA unit. Hydrolysis experiments with steam exploded corn stover led to a maximum conversion of 80%, significantly higher than the results obtained for acid treated substrate. Steam exploded corn stover was demonstrated as a suitable carbon source for growth of T. reesei in submerged cultures.

Computer aided process evaluations were conducted for several processing alternatives. Among the alternatives considered were steam explosion or dilute acid pretreatment, equilibrium solid-liquid contacting or ultrafiltration for enzyme recovery, and batch, continuous or continuous with cell recycle enzyme production. Using dilute acid pretreated materials, glucose may be produced for 12-22 cents per pound for corn stover cost ranging from 0-30 \$/ton. This constitutes a 33% reduction over previous processing schemes employing cellulase from <u>T</u>. reesei QM9414. Enzyme production is the single most expensive processing step, accounting for 40% of processing costs. Preliminary evaluation of processing with steam exploded corn stover leads to a glucose cost of 10-15 cents/pound for corn stover costing 0-30 \$/ton; with further improvement possible. At the current level of development, ethanol may not be manufactured profitably from corn stover; furthermore, the dominance of raw material cost tends to dampen the effect of process improvements on the cost of manufacturing ethanol.

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Introduction	1
2. Background	4
2.1. Enzymatic Hydrolysis: Substrate and Enzyme Properties and Interaction	4
2.1.1. Corn Stover Composition	4
2.1.2. Structure and Morphology of Cellulose	4
2.1.3. Cellulase Enzymes	6
2.1.4. Enzymatic Hydrolysis Models	12
2.2. Process Components	15
2.2.1. Pretreatments	15
2.2.2. Enzyme Production	18
2.2.3. Enzyme Recovery	23
2.2.4. Enzymatic Hydrolysis	26
2.3 Enzymatic Hydrolysis Processes	29
2.3.1. Natick Stirred Tank Process	29
2.3.2. Gulf-Arkansas Simultaneous Fermentation and Saccharification Process	31
2.3.3. MIT Mixed Culture Process	33
2.3.4. Penn/GE Multiproduct Process	35
3. Previous Work	43
3.1. Development of the Berkeley Process	43
3.1.1. Process Recovering Cellulase in Solution and Adsorbed onto Solids	43
3.1.2. Process with Increased Cellulase Productivity Using Cell Recycle	45
3.1.3. Corn Stover Hydrolysis Process	47
3.1.4. Corn Stover Process Optimization	48

· · ·	3.2. Process Evaluation	50
	4. Experimental Procedures	56
•••	4.1. Corn Stover Composition Determination	56
ب ب د	4.2. Substrate Pretreatment	56
	4.2.1. Dilute Acid Pretreatment	56
e	4.2.2. Explosive Steam Decompression	58
	4.2.3. Acid-Base Pretreatment	59
· .	4.3. Enzyme Production	59
	4.3.1. Cellulase Production for Use in Hydrolysis Experiments	61
	4.3.2. Shake Flask Studies with Steam Exploded Corn Stover as Substrate	63
• • •	4.3.3. Fermentation with Corn Stover as Carbon Source	63
: · · · ·	4.4. Hydrolysis Experiments	64
	4.4.1. Hydrolysis of Acid Treated Corn Stover	64
	4.4.2. Hydrolysis with Steam Exploded Corn Stover	65
· · · ·	4.5. Miscellaneous	66
	4.5.1. Hydrolysis Spent Solids Washing	66
	4.5.2. Relative Filtration Rates of Hydrolysis Suspensions	66
· · · ·	5. Experimental Results and Discussion	68
	5.1. Substrate Composition and Pretreatment	68
	5.1.1. Corn Stover Composition	68
4 <b>%</b> '	5.1.2. Dilute Acid Pretreatment	69
an a	5.1.3. Steam Explosion Pretreatment	69
	5.2. Cellulase Production with <u>T</u> . reesei (Rut-C-30)	72
	5.2.1. Batch Cultures Employing Solka Floc as Carbon Source	72

V

5.2.2.	Cellulase Production with Steam Exploded Corn Stover as Substrate	76
5.2.3.	Batch Fermentation of <u>T</u> . <u>reesei</u> with Corn Stover	76
5.3. E	nzymatic Hydrolysis of Acid Treated Corn Stover	78
5.3.1.	Glucose Production	78
5.3.2.	Xylose Production	87
5.3.3.	Cellobiose Production	87
5.3.4.	Enzyme Recovery	91
5.3.5.	Performance Comparison of Cellulase from QM9414 and Rut-C-30	95
5.4. H	ydrolysis of Steam Exploded Corn Stover	95
5.4.1.	Glucose Production	95
5.4.2.	Enzyme Adsorption	99
5.4.3.	Xylose Production	99
5.5. M	iscellaneous Process Development Studies	102
5.5.1.	Hydrolysis Solids Washing	102
5.5.2.	Relative Filtration Rates	102
5.6. К Н	inetic Model For Acid Treated Corn Stover ydrolysis	105
6. Pro	cess Design and Evaluation	112
6.1. Ba	asic Design and Alternatives	112
6.1.1.	General Basis	112
6.1.2.	Base Case Process	113
6.1.3.	Processing Alternatives	113
6.2. E	quipment Sizing Criteria	115
6.2.1.	Size Reduction	115
6.2.2.	Mixing	116
6.2.3.	Heat Transfer	118

			· · · ·
	6.2.4.	Vessels	121
	6.2.5.	Materials Transfer	122
	6.2.6.	Separation	. 122
	6.2.7.	Miscellaneous	124
	6.3. P	rocess Components, Description and Assumptions	124
	6.3.1.	Milling	124
	6.3.2.	Pretreatment	125
	6.3.3.	Hydrolysis	128
	6.3.4.	Enzyme Recovery	132
	6.3.5.	Enzyme Production	136
	6.3.6.	Evaporation	139
	6.3.7.	Storage	141
	6.4. P	rocess Evaluation	141
	6.4.1.	Capital Cost	141
	6.4.2.	Labor	145
	6.4.3.	Raw Materials	148
	6.4.4.	Utilities	152
	7. Com	puter Simulation and Evaluation	158
	7.1. C	omputer Algorithm Capabilities	158
	7.1.1.	General Organization	158
	7.1.2.	Required Information and Operating Options	158
•	7.1.3.	Information Distribution and Output	162
	7.1.4.	Limitations	165
	7.2. S	ubroutine Outlines	166
	7.2.1.	Main Program Subroutine	166
	7.3. Ma	aterial Balance	166
	7.3.1.	Process Selection Routines	168

vii

viii

с. 1

-

-

7.3.2. Process Operation Subroutines	168
7.3.3. Support Subroutines	173
8. Economic Evaluation, Results and Discussion	177
8.1. Glucose Production Cost, Base Case	177
8.1.1. Production Cost Excluding Corn Stover Cost	177
8.1.2. Production Cost Including Corn Stover Cost	180
8.1.3. Contribution of Processing Operations to the Cost of Manufacturing Glucose	180
8.1.4. Effect of Enzyme Activity on Cost	184
8.1.5. Effect of Substrate Concentration	184
8.1.6. Effect of Residence Time	187
8.1.7. Economics of Scale, Direct Fixed Capital	187
8.1.8. Cost of Ethanol Production	190
8.1.9. Comparison with QM9414	190
8.2. Process Alternatives	191
8.2.1. Enzyme Production	191
8.2.2. Enzyme Recovery	191
8.2.3. Steam Explosion	194
9. Conclusions and Recommendations	197
9.1. Conclusions	197
9.1.1. Experimental	197
9.1.2. Process Evaluation	198
9.2. Recommendations	200
9.2.1. Experimental	200
9.2.2. Process Evaluation	201
APPENDIX A	202
APPENDIX B	229

•

#### 1. Introduction

Part of current research efforts aimed at developing alternate sources of energy are being devoted to the development of processes which produce ethanol from cellulose. As a raw material, cellulose is attractive because it is renewable and abundant; an estimated 250 billion metric tons are available for processing each year (1). As a product, ethanol is of interest as a liquid fuel and as a raw material employed in the manufacture of bulk chemicals.

Currently most ethanol intended for industrial use is manufactured from ethylene, a petroleum product. Ethanol produced by fermentation is reserved for beverage use and can not compete with petroleum based ethanol for industrial or fuel applications. The primary reason for the high cost of fermentation ethanol is the high cost of glucose, which and beverage is used in the food industries. In 1979 molasses accounted for over two thirds of the manufacturing price of ethanol (2).

Production of ethanol from cellulosic materials takes place in two discreet steps. First, cellulose is hydrolyzed to produce glucose. Subsequently, glucose is fermented by yeasts to produce ethyl alcohol. Thus, if ethanol is to be manufactured from cellulose at competitive price, an economical means of carrying out the hydrolysis step is essential.

Cellulose may be hydrolyzed to produce glucose by

#### Introduction

employing acid or cellulase enzymes. Acid hydrolysis requires high temperature and low pH to be effective. These severe conditions make it necessary to employ expensive corrosion resistant equipment and limit the conversion efficiency due to product degradation (3). Enzymatic hydrolysis, while not requiring severe operating conditions, is hampered by limited accessibility of the substrate to the enzyme and slow reaction rates due to inhibition by products and reaction intermediates (4). In addition, the manufacture of enzymes is costly, making recovery of utilized enzyme necessary to achieve profitability and thus leading to more complicated processing.

The objective of this work was to evaluate an enzymatic hydrolysis process being investigated at the University of California, Berkeley in light of recent developments of high yielding mutant organisms. The raw material employed was corn stover, chosen because it is an abundant agricultural waste product. Hydrolysis experiments were carried out to evaluate the performance of cellulase enzymes produced by a new mutant of <u>Trichoderma reesei</u>. The effect of a steam explosive decompression pretreatment on hydrolysis efficiency was investigated. Preliminary studies were performed to find less expensive raw materials for cellulase production, and to evaluate ultrafiltration as a means of recovering enzymes. A computer algorithm was developed to enable an economic evaluation of these and future process alternatives and to identify areas needing further study.

#### References: Chapter 1

- 1. Humphrey, A.E., <u>Adv. Chem. Ser. 181</u>, 25 (1978).
- 2. Maiorella, B., Blanch, H.W., and Wilke, C.R., "Rapid Ethanol Production Via Fermentation", University of California, Berkeley, UCLBL-10219 (1979).

- 3. Humphrey, A.E. and Nolan, E.J., <u>Biological Production</u> <u>of Liquid Fuels and Chemical Feedstocks</u>. Office of Technology Assessment, the Congress of the United States, Gov't Printing Office, #052-033-00706 (1978).
- 4. Lee, Y., Fan, L.Y. and Fan, L.S., <u>Advances in Biochem</u>. <u>Eng.</u>, <u>17</u>, 131 (1981).

2.1. Enzymatic Hydrolysis : substrate and enzyme properties and interaction

#### 2.1.1. Corn Stover Composition

Corn stover, like other agricultural residues, is composed of carbohydrates, lignin, inorganic compounds, proteins, and soluble organic compounds. Table 2-1 presents a summary of typical compositions of agricultural residues found in California (1). The main constituents are carbohydrates, accounting for 50-60 percent of the total weight.

Among the carbohydrates commonly present are glucans, mannans, galactans, xylans, and arabinans. The most abundant component is cellulose, a polymer of glucose, accounting for 70-80 percent of the available polysaccharides. The second most abundant constituent is hemicellulose, a heteropolymer of the saccharides listed. Lignin, an aliphaticaromatic polymer of oxygen substituted phenyl- propane units, serves to bind cellulose fibers together by intertwining with cellulose and covalently bonding with hemicellulose, and forms a protective sheath around cellulose fiber bundles. This sheath is partly responsible for hindering the digestion of cellulose by enzymes (2).

#### 2.1.2. Structure and Morphology of Cellulose

Cellulose is a linear polymer composed of anhydroglu-

•	**					ASSAY	(C)		_
	1	CARB	OHYDRATE	S		l .		AZEO. BZ/EtoH	ACID
MATERIAL <sup>(A)</sup>	GLUC <sup>(B)</sup>	MANN	GALAC	XYL	ARAB	LIGN	ASH	EXT.	INSOL.
BARLEY STRAW	37.5	1.26	1.71	15.0	3.96	13.8	10.8	9.7	2 ( <u>+</u> 1)
CORN STOVER	35.1	0.25	0.75	13.0	2.8	15.1	4.3	5.5	, <sup>1</sup> ( <u>+</u> 1)
COTTON GIN TRASH	18.0	1.9	0.1	4.0	2.0	17.6	14.8	8.3	2( <u>+</u> 1)
RICE HULLS	32.5	2.7	0.1	12.3	2.6	19.4	20.1	2.0	1( <u>+</u> 1)
RICE STRAW	36.9	1.6	0.4	13.0	4.0	9.9	12.4	4.4	2 ( <u>+</u> 1)
SORGHUM STRAW	32.5	0.8	0.2	15.0	3.0	     14.5	10.1	6.2	     1( <u>+</u> 1)
WHEAT STRAW	32.9	0.72	2.16	16.9	2.11	14.5	9.6	7.2	3( <u>+</u> 1)

TABLE 2-1 Composition of California Agricultural Residues

(A) 2mM Wiley Milled, 40-60 mesh fraction (0.25 to 0.35mM), and 100% dry.

(B) Wgt.& Glucan, Mannan, Galactan, Xylan, Arabinan, Lignin, Azeotropic Benzene Alcohol, Extractives, Acid Insoluble Material.

(C) Average of 3-5 Det'm.

From: Wilke, C.R., et al. (1)

σ

cose units joined by B-1,4-qlucosidic bonds. Native cellulose has a degree of polymerization of 3500-10000 (3). Cellulose molecules are linked together by hydrogen bonding into an ordered, parallel arrangement, or fibril. Fibrils bound together by polyoses to form microfibrils. are Current microfibril models describe regions where fibrils oriented in an ordered, parallel fashion surrounded by are less ordered regions containing cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin (4). Along the length of the microfibril, cellulose molecules experience regions of disorder commonly referred to as amorphous regions. Chang (5) reviewed existing models of fibril structure and concluded that models describing folding chains of cellulose polymers are consistent with existing knowledge. Figure 2-1 presents a summary of common models of cellulose structure (4,5).

Among structural features of cellulosic materials that influence its susceptibility to enzymatic attack are extent of swelling by water, size and surface area of interstitial voids, degree of crystallinity, and the presence of other substances. Despite considerable research activity, the relative importance of these factors has not been established.

#### 2.1.3. Cellulase Enzymes

Although a large number of fungi displaying cellulolytic activity have been investigated (6) current research is focused mainly on strains of the fungus Trichoderma



a) Structure of Microfibril (4)



b) Models of Molecular Arrangement in Protofibril (5)

XBL 819-6466

Figure 2.1 Common Models of Cellulose Structure. After Cowling, E.B. (4) and Chang, N.J (5).

<u>reesei</u>. These fungi are of interest because they produce all cellulase components necessary for hydrolysis of cellulose, the cellulase produced is resistant to chemical inhibitors and is stable at temperatures up to 50 degrees centigrade for up to 48 hours (7).

Figure 2-2 presents a genealogy of <u>T. reesei</u> strains (6). The wild type QM6a was isolated by Reese in 1950 (8). Considerable work has been performed on strain QM9414, but this strain suffers the disadvantage of being deficient in the enzyme necessary to hydrolyse cellobiose. This work employed strain Rut-C-30, developed at Rutgers University by Montenecourt and Eveleigh (9). The Rut-C-30 strain has attracted attention because it is hyperproducing, resistant to catabolyte repression, and it displays high Bglucosidase and xylanase activities.

The exact mode of action of cellulases is still under Current knowledge leads to grouping celluinvestigation. function into three groups: B-1,4lases by glucanglucanohydrolase is a randomly acting endoglucanase which generates new chain ends from the interior of the polymer; B-1,4-qlucancellobiohydrolase attacks chain ends to produce cellobiose; B-qlucosidase produces glucose from cellobiose. Table 2-2 presents a summary of molecular weights and isoelectric points of each of the enzyme groups Figure 2-3 presents a summary of a current model for (6). cellulase action on cellulose (7). Work with isolated



## Figure 2-2. GENEALOGY OF HIGH YIELDING CELLULASE MUTANTS



		4 · · · ·	
Component	Molecular Weight	Isoelectric Points	Reference
Exoglucanases (EC 3.2.1.91)	49,000 61,000 46,000 48,000	3.79	(9) (8) (16) (20)
Endoglucanases (EC 3.2.1.4)	76,000 30,000; 43,000 12,500; 50,000 37,200; 52,000 49,500	4.60, 3.39	(9) (1) (18) (21) (21)
B-Glucosidase (EC 3.2.1.21)	47,000 76,000; 76,000	5.74	(17) (13)

TABLE 2-2 Properties of cellulase components of Trichoderma reesei

From Wilke, C.R., et al. (6)



1. After Mandels, M. and Ryu, D.D.Y. (7)

\_\_

enzyme components has shown that cellulases act synergistically (10), Table 2-3 presents an example of this behavior.

#### 2.1.4. Enzymatic Hydrolysis Models

A full description of the enzymatic hydrolysis reaction requires consideration of cellulose structural characteristics, the mode of action of the cellulase species present, and the nature of the interaction between enzymes and cellulose.

Factors commonly considered when modeling cellulose structural characteristics are substrate accessibility, surface area, and crystallinity. Amemura and Teori (52) employed the concept of effective substrate concentration to account for the amorphous/crystalline nature of cellulose. Similarly, Howell and Majal (11) postulated that a certain percentage of the substrate is entirely inaccessible to the enzyme. Kim (12) and Humphrey (13) employed a two substrate model in which the crystalline fraction was converted to amorphous cellulose prior to being involved in product for-Accessibility limitations have been frequently mation. modeled by assuming the substrate is a shrinking sphere (14).

Accurate modeling of hydrolysis kinetics must account for various enzyme components and their synergistic action, for rate inhibiting effects by products and intermediates, and for deactivation of enzymes by physical means such as

TABLE 2-3 Synergistic Effect of Cellulase Components

	Enzyme	Relative Activity
	culture filtrate	100%
Α.	B-1,4-endoglucanases	l% or less
в.	B-1,4-exoglucanases	<1%
C	B-glucosidase	08
D.	A + C	5%
Ε.	B + C	48
F.	A + B + C	103%

(During hydrolysis of cotton, components added at same level present in original filtrate)

After: Wood, T.M. and McCrae, S.I. (10)

temperature and shear. Suga (15), Okazaki and Moo-Young (16), and Lee (17) have proposed models which include two, three, and four enzyme components respectively. These models also account for the relationship between degree of substrate polymerization and reaction rates.

Mandels and Reese (18), and Ghose and Das (19) have reported strong competitive inhibitory behavior by cellobiose, and a less pronounced competitive inhibition by glucose. Huang (20) has incorporated a competitive inhibition mechanism in his model. In addition to competitive inhibition models, several non-competitive inhibition models have been proposed (14, 16).

In modeling the interaction between substrate and enzymes two factors which may be influential are diffusional limitations stemming from the heterogeneous nature of the system, and the adsorption behavior of various enzyme components onto the substrate. Fickian diffusion models have been employed (15, 16), but a more common approach has been to neglect mass transfer resistances. The approach to modeling has been varied, with Langmuir isotherms (16, 20), Freudlich isotherms (14), and linear models proposed (12).

In general kinetic models describing cellulose hydrolysis have evolved from simple Michaelis-Menten models to incorporate the increasing number of factors now understood to influence hydrolysis kinetics. However, even with the appearance of increasingly sophisticated models, a Ţ

generalized model fully describing this process is not available.

#### 2.2. Process Components

#### 2.2.1. Pretreatments

Substrate pretreatment techniques have been developed in an attempt to enhance hydrolysis yields. The primary aim of pretreatment is to enhance the porosity of cellulose, decrease its crystallinity and disrupt the lignin sheath. Pretreatments may be grouped by method as physical and chemical.

Physical pretreatments employ some type of size reduction equipment to increase the area available for reaction and disrupt the lignin sheath surrounding cellulose microfibrils. Mandels, Hontz, and Nystrom (21) compared mulchers, shredders, roll, hammer, vibro energy, fluid energy, colloidal, and ball mills. They concluded that ball milling had the greatest effect on increasing the susceptibility of various cellulosic materials to enzymatic attack. Mandels et al. (22) have also successfully employed a two roll compression mill which apparently consumes less energy than a ball mill. Favorable results were also obtained by Kelsey and Shaffizadeh (23) on a process combining wet milling simultaneously with enzymatic hydrolysis.

Table 2-4 presents a summary of some pretreatments investigated in the recent past (6). Although most of the

19 Y 3

#### TABLE 2-4 Chemic

Pretreatment	Procedure	Purpose	Results	Reference
Water swelling	Solids soaked in boiling water	Capillary swelling	Does not permanently change capillary structure	21
Alkali swelling	l% NAOH, boil 3 hours	Capillary swelling deligni- fication	Conversions enhanced	24
Ammonia	Contact solids with ammonia under pressure	Deligni- fication and swelling	Corn stover conversion increased 26 to 61%	24
Dilute Acid Extraction	0.1-1% H <sub>2</sub> 'SO <sub>4</sub> 3-6 <sub>0</sub> hr, 100°C,	Pentosan Extraction	50-80% of available pentosans extracted	1
Dilute Acid (Dartmouth)	Short residence time, high tempera- ture	Crystalin- ity disruption Pentosan extraction	97% conversio corn stover	n 36
Nitric acid	5 parts nitric oxide, 100 parts solids, 20 C, 24 hours	Pentosan and lignin extraction	High conversions	37

## TABLE 2-4 Chemical Pretreatments- Cont.

Pretreatment	Procedure	Purpose	Results	Reference
Steam decom- pression	500-1000 PSI steam 5-300 seconds vented rapidly	Delignifi- cation, increase surface area, pentosan formation	Conversions over 60% with wood	26
High temperature ethanol	50% ethanol 180 C, 1 hour	Delignifi- cation	Minor increas in enzymatic hydrolysis conversion	se 38
WAN treatment	Water swelling, alcohol wash, nonpolar hydro- carbon wash	Permanent swelling	Increased conversions	39

processes described are effective, most are also not currently economically feasible. Alkali swelling has been reported to consume about 40 percent of the sodium hydroxide required for operation (24). In general, the processes listed which employ costly chemicals, such as the nitric acid and the Cadox process are difficult to justify economically.

The dilute acid extraction employed by the University of California, Berkeley is sufficiently inexpensive to be considered if acid recycle is employed (25). However, current research on pentose utilization is not sufficiently developed to ensure a use for the dilute xylose stream produced.

Currently attracting much interest is a steam explosive decompression developed by the Iotech Corporation. Studies have shown that the process is successful in enhancing the digestibility of soft woods (26). This work included a preliminary evaluation of the digestibility of corn stover subjected to this method of pretreatment.

#### 2.2.2. Enzyme Production

Process development work aimed at producing cellulases on an industrial scale have focused mainly on aerobic fermentation of strains of T. reesei.

Batch studies have been employed to select nutrients and operating conditions leading to optimal cellulase

production for several strains including strains QM9414 and C-30. Mandels and co-workers (27) developed a successful nutrient media that includes ball or roll milled crystalline cellulose (Solka Floc) as both carbon source and inducer and proteose peptone as a nitrogen source. A slightly modified version of this media was employed by Tangnu <u>et al</u>. (28) for work on strain Rut-C-30. Although this media is effective it employs expensive organic nitrogen and carbon sources not feasible for industrial scale applications. Work has been reported (22, 29) aimed at replacing these with less expensive materials such as agricultural or municipal waste cellulose for carbon sources and corn steep liquor or recycled mycelia for nitrogen sources, but further work is needed.

T. reesei fermentations require pH control to sustain cell growth and cellulase production. Acids are secreted by the organism during carbohydrate consumption and serve a regulating function, inactivating the enzymes at pH below 3 and preventing cell growth at pH below 2 (7). Different have slightly different optimal pH points in the strains range of pH 4-5. Optimal temperature has been reported at 25-28°C (7, 28). Agitation is required to provide adequate mixing of insoluble cellulose, suspend the mycelia and maintain good oxygen transport. Oxygen requirements call for maintaining oxygen tension at 15-20% of saturation (28, 30).

Table 2-5 presents typical batch enzyme production data for Rut-C-30 and QM9414 strains. Batch cycle times of 144

Substrate Conc.	B-g Activity (IU/ml)	FPA Activity (IU/ml)	Productivity (IU/l/hr)
5% Solka Floc	1	6.06	42
2.5%	1.2	4.3	. 30
5% "	26	14	97
2.5% "	10	5.2	36
	Substrate Conc. 5% Solka Floc 2.5% " 5% " 2.5% "	Substrate Conc.       B-g Activity (IU/ml)         5% Solka Floc       1         2.5%       1.2         5%       26         2.5%       10	Substrate Conc.         B-g Activity (IU/ml)         FPA Activity (IU/ml)           5% Solka Floc         1         6.06           2.5%         1.2         4.3           5%         26         14           2.5%         10         5.2

1. After Wilke, C.R., et al. (6)

hours are necessary for maximum cellulase production. Levels of both cellobiase and overall activity (FPA) are higher for the C-30 strain. The Rut-C-30 strain also produces a higher ratio of B-glucosidase activity to overall activity against filter paper (FPA). This ratio for C-30 is in excess of the 1.5 ratio reported (7) to be optimal for minimum cellobiase production during hydrolysis. Figure 2-4 presents a typical profile of <u>T</u>. reesei fermentation (7).

Production of B-glucosidase for addition to cellulase mixtures was investigated by Yamanaka (31) utilizing <u>Bro-</u> <u>tryodiplodia theobromae</u> and by Howell (32) using <u>Aspergillus</u> <u>phoenicis</u>. Although the advantage of having sufficient cellobiase activity during hydrolysis and the feasibility of the scheme was confirmed, economic evaluations did not justify large scale production of B-glucosidase by these methods. Furthermore, the current availability of strains producing high cellobiase activity makes this approach less attractive.

Work has been reported on continuous and semicontinuous enzyme production schemes, but productivities reported were lower than those obtained with batch systems. In early work, Nystrom and Kornuta developed a semicontinuous process with enzyme productivity of approximately 10 IU/1/hr (33). Von Stockar, Yang and Wilke (34) developed a two stage continuous process employing cell recycle to boost productivities to 19 IU/1/hr using strain QM9414. By



XBL 818-6415

Figure 2.4. Typical Fermentation Profile with Trichoderma reesei, QM-9414<sup>1</sup>.
(a) Ph, and (b) enzyme cell concentration and soluble protein.
O, Dry Wt. □, Cellulose, ●, Soluble Protein, △, Mycelial
Protein (g/1): ▲, FPU (IU/m1).

<sup>1</sup>After Mandels, M. and Ryu, D.V.P. (7).

increasing substrate concentrations to 2.5%. Tangnu <u>et</u> <u>al</u>. (28) achieved a productivity of 50 IU/L-hr with QM9414 at dilution rates of 0.04 hr<sup>-1</sup> for the growth stage and  $0.02 hr^{-1}$ for the induction stage respectively. Work on Rut-C-30 is still in progress, however preliminary work (6) achieved productivities in the range of 50 IU/L-hr. In earlier work Mitra and Wilke (35) reported an optimum dilution rate of  $0.02 hr^{-1}$  for the cellulase producing stage with strain QM9414. This value has not been substantially improved in more recent work (6).

#### 2.2.3. Enzyme Recovery

A predominant contributor to the high cost of producing glucose from waste cellulose is the cost of producing the required cellulose (24). Attempts at cost reduction have therefore led to investigation of enzyme recovery schemes. Most work has been focused on adsorbing the enzymes onto fresh cellulose, precipitating the enzymes by salting out or filtering the cellulase with membranes.

It has been demonstrated that cellulose is adsorbed readily onto cellulose during the early stages of hydrolysis (40). This behavior enables the recovery of enzymes from hydrolysis product streams by contacting fresh cellulose with the hydrolysate. By using countercurrent staging recoveries in excess of equilibrium are obtained.

This process, although inexpensive (24), is complicated

by selectivity differences for adsorption of various enzyme components onto cellulose. Castanon (40) showed that endoglucanases were adsorbed more readily than exoglucanases. Yamanaka (31) observed little adsorption of B-glucosidase. Although potentially still useful, this technique may alter the ratio of component cellulases used in hydrolysis and may result in reduced savings if a limiting cellulase component is not recovered. Considerably more work on the interaction of cellulases during hydrolysis is needed to resolve this problem.

Ige (41) investigated the precipitation of cellulases adding acetone to enzyme solution. Figure 2-5 is a proby file of enzyme recovery as percent of initial activity acetone concentration. Recovery for both endo- and versus exo-glucanases was in excess of 95% when 2-3 volumes of to enzyme solution were acetone used. Yamanaka (31)reported over 90% recovery of B-glucosidase activity with the same amount of acetone. This method overcomes the problem of recovery selectivity but recovery of acetone by distillation is necessary and costly.

Molecular ultrafiltration is a feasible method of concentrating proteins. Wang (42) reported recovery efficiencies ranging from 70-90% of original activities in experiments with several enzymes. The reason for loss of activity was due to inactivation of protein deposited on the membrane. Other problems involved in protein separation with


# XBL743-2547

C<sub>1</sub> activity ( $\bullet$ ) and C<sub>x</sub> activity ( $\blacksquare$ ) recovered from a 2=fold concentration enzyme solution with initial activities of 7.84 C<sub>1</sub> units and 1.88 C<sub>x</sub> units. From Ige, R.I. and Wilke, C.R.

Figure 2.5 Enzyme Recovers as % of Original Cellulase Activity Vs. Acetone Concentration.

UF membranes are low fluxes, 5-15  $gal/ft^2/day$ , fast rate of fouling, and short membrane life (43).

Ultrafiltration systems which maintain a high flux and reduce or eliminate backflushing downtime are commercially available (44). The sustained high fluxes are obtained by pumping the liquid at high velocity and shear parallel to the membrane surface, and thus constantly scraping it clean. Although shear denatures some proteins this apparatus warrants investigation. Another potentially feasible method of achieving high flux in membranes is to pulse the liquid to be filtered at high frequency (45).

Riaz (46) investigated compounds which may desorb enzymes bound to cellulose. He reported recovering 45% of bound enzyme upon washing cellulose with 6 molar urea. Adding urea to hydrolysis reactions to prevent cellulases from binding has been studied and found to be effective but costly (47).

#### 2.2.4. Enzymatic Hydrolysis

Enzymatic hydrolysis has been investigated using stirred tank and fluidized bed reactors and packed beds. Methods of continuous product removal to reduce glucose inhibition have included combined saccharification and fermentation, and membrane filtration.

Stirred tank hydrolysis processes have included semibatch and fully continuous methods of operation. Semibatch techniques take advantage of viscosity drops during thefirst few hours of hydrolysis to achieve solid concentrations of 30%. With this technique, product streams of 10% glucose have been reported (22).

Cellulases immobilized onto beads have been used in a fluid bed reactor to hydrolyze dilute recirculating cellulose suspensions. Although quantitative conversion of cellulose was obtained and cellular half-life was long, large residence times were required (48).

Packed bed hydrolysis has involved both stationary enzyme and stationary cellulose beds. Both of these techniques were found to be inferior to fluidized bed counterparts. Packed enzyme beds plugged and packed cellulose beds led to high pressure drops (6).

A combined saccharification-fermentation scheme developed by Gulf Chemicals Company has been reported to yield higher conversions than conventional stirred tank hydrolysis (Figure 2-6). Hydrolysis was conducted with 8% pasteurized cellulose.feed, whole cellulase culture broth and yeast cake (49)

Mixed culture processes combining cellulase production, hydrolysis and ethanol fermentation have been reported (50). A culture employing <u>Clostridium thermocellum</u> to hydrolyze cellulose and produce ethanol and <u>Clostridium thermosac-</u> charolyticum to catabolize xylose has reported good conver-



Gulf/Arkansas Comparison of Simultaneous Saccharification/Fermentation (SSF) and Saccharification

From Wilke, C.R., et al. (6) XBL Figure 2-6.

XBL803-4882

sion of Solka Floc and corn stover pretreated with sodium hydroxide (6). Stirred tanks and fluidized cellulose beds have been employed as mixed culture bioreactors.

## 2.3. Enzymatic Hydrolysis Processes

Roughly half a dozen enzymatic hydrolysis processes are currently under investigation. Their degree of development ranges from conceptual, backed by some bench scale experimentation to pilot plant demonstration for a few. The following is a summary of key aspects of the more advanced processes. Discussion of the process being developed at the University of California, Berkeley is deferred until Chapter 3.

### 2.3.1. Natick Stirred Tank Process

Figure 2-7 shows a schematic diagram of the stirred tank hydrolysis process being developed by the U.S. Army Natick Research and Development Command (Natick). Urban waste is fed to a two roll compression mill prior to entering the hydrolysis vessel. Hydrolysis takes place in 24 hours, using a solids concentration of 30% and an enzyme specific activity of 14 IU per gram of cellulose to achieve a conversion of 45%. Enzyme is made batchwise at a productivity of 125 IU/L-hr. The 10% glucose solution produced is fed directly to an ethanol fermentation bioreactor (22).

This process has been operated in a pilot plant equipped with a 250 liter stirred tank hydrolysis vessel.





From Wilke, C.R., et al.(6)
Figure 2-7.

XBL 803- 4875

The Natick process is attractive because it has achieved high cellulase productivity and because it produces a glucose stream concentrated enough to be fermented without evaporation.

# 2.3.2. <u>Gulf-Arkansas Simultaneous Fermentation and Saccha-</u> rification Process

Figure 2-8 shows a schematic of a process developed by Gulf Chemicals Company (51). Raw material consists of a mixture of municipal and pulp mill waste. After milling, part of the municipal waste is sterilized and used as carbon source for enzyme production. Milled pulp waste is mixed with the remaining municipal waste, is pasteurized, and is fed to a set of reactors where simultaneous saccharification and fermentation takes place. Hydrolysis-fermentation takes place in 24 hours, using 8% cellulose, fresh and recycled cellulases, and yeast.

Cellulase is produced continuously utilizing three reactors in series with a combined residence time of 48 hours. Unreacted solids are used to generate steam or electricity.

Preliminary design and evaluation of the Gulf/Arkansas process was carried out by Raphael Katzen and Associates (51) who concluded that the process may compete with processes manufacturing ethanol from grain. However, Katzen's study assumed a 90% cellulose utilization; thus far



Gulf/University of Arkansas Process

After Wilke, C.R., et al.

Figure 2-8.

XBL803-4881

#### Background

only a 60% conversion has been demonstrated (6). Even though Katzen's estimate is optimistic, the Gulf/Arkansas process has undergone pilot plant testing and remains a potentially desirable method of producing alcohol from waste cellulose.

# 2.3.3. MIT Mixed Culture Process

Figure 2-9 shows a schematic of the Batelle Columbus design of a hydrolysis process being developed by the Massachusets Institute of Technology (MIT). This process carries out cellulase production, hydrolysis and ethanol fermentation simultaneously in mixed culture of <u>C</u>. thermocellum and <u>C</u>. thermosaccharolyticum.

The mixed culture bioreactors are fed milled corn stover, and sterilized medium utilizing recycled process water. Ethanol beer produced is separated in a rotary filter; solids from the filter are burned to generate steam. The ethanol beer is combined from ethanol recovered from the carbon dioxide stream leaving the fermentors prior to entering a distillation train.

The Batelle design of the MIT process assumes that corn stover at a concentration of 245 g/L produces a stream containing 45 g/L ethanol (6). Currently, MIT's best fed-batch data indicates only 10 g/L ethanol produced from 100 g/L corn stover. In spite of this liberal assumption, the MIT process is potentially feasible and offers the advantage of



From Wilke, C,R., et al. (6) Figure 2-9. XBL803-4884

β

reduced capital requirements.

# 2.3.4. Penn/GE Multiproduct Process

Figure 2-10 is a block flow diagram of a process being developed by the University of Pennsylvania and the General Electric Company (6). Although still conceptual and lacking data on some of the processing steps, the Penn/GE process is attractive because it intends to manufacture a variety of products. By manufacturing Lignin-butanol fuel, polymer grade lignin, butanol, acetone, ethanol, animal feed and xylose total biomass utilization and lower ethanol cost may be achieved.



University of Pennsylvania/General Electric (PENN/GE) From Wilke, C.R., <u>et al</u>. (6). XBL8 Figure 2-10.

XBL 803-4886

### References: Chapter 2

- Sciamanna, A.F., Freitas, R.P., and Wilke, C.R. "Composition and Utilization of Cellulose for Chemicals from Agricultural Residues", University of California, Berkeley, UCLBL-5966 (1977).
- Wardrup, A.B. in <u>Lignins</u>, Sarkanen, K.V, Ludwig, C.H. (eds) p. 19, New York, Wiley Interscience (1971).
- 3. Reese, E.T., Mandels, M., and Weiss, A.H. <u>Advances in</u> <u>Biochem, 2</u>, p. 181 (1972).
- Cowling, E.B., <u>Biotech</u>. <u>Bioeng</u>. <u>Symposium</u>, <u>5</u>, 163 (1975).
- 5. Chang, W.J., Polym Sci., <u>36C</u>, 343 (1971).
- 6. Wilke, C.R., Maiorella, B., Sciamanna, A., Tangnu, K., Wiley, D., and Wong, H. "Enzymatic Hydrolysis of Cellulose, Theory and Applications", Office for Economic Development, University of California, Berkeley, UCLBL-13669 (1981).
- 7 Mandels, M. and Ryu, D.D.Y. <u>Enzyme</u> <u>Microb</u>. <u>Technol</u>., <u>2</u>, 91 (1980).
- Reese, E.T., Siu, R.G.H. and Levinson, H.S.J. <u>J. Bac-</u> teriol., 59, 485 (1950).

- 9. Montenecourt, B.S. and Eveleigh, D.E., <u>Appl. Environ</u>. <u>Microbiol.</u>, <u>34</u>, 777 (1977).
- 10. Wood, T.M. and McCrae, S.I., <u>Biochem</u> J., <u>171</u>, 61 (1978).
- 11. Howell and J.A., Mangat, M., <u>Biotech</u>. <u>Bioeng</u>., <u>20</u>, 847 (1978).
- 12. Kim, C., ARO Report 74-2, p. 507 (1974).
- 13. Humphrey, A.E., Adv. Chem. Ser., 181, 25 (1978).
- 14. Lee, Y., Fan, L.T. and Fan, L.S. <u>Advances in Biochem</u>. <u>Eng.</u>, <u>17A</u>, 131 (1981).
- 15. Suga, K., Van Dedem, G. and Moo-Young, M. <u>Biotech</u> Bioeng., 17, 433 (1975).
- 16. Moo-Young, M., and Okazaki, M., <u>Biotech</u> <u>Bioeng.</u>, <u>20</u>, 637 (1978).
- 17 Lee, S.E., Armiger, W.B., Watleeuw, C.M., and Humphrey, A.E. <u>Biotech Bioeng.</u>, 20, 141 (1978).
- 18. Mandels, M. and Reese, E.T., <u>Advances in Enzymic Hydro-</u> <u>lysis of Cellulose and Related Material</u>, E.T. Reese, editor, New York, Wiley Interscience (1963).
- 19. Ghose, T. K. and Das, K., <u>Advances in Biochemical</u> Engineering, 6, 55 (1971).

20. Huang, A. A., Biotech. Bioeng., 17, 1421 (1975A).

- 21. Mandels, M., Hontz, L., and Nystrom, J., <u>Biotech</u> <u>Bioeng.</u>, <u>16</u>, 1471 (1974).
- 22. Mandels, M., Spano, L., Tassinari, T., Ryu, D.D.Y. and Allan, A. "Enzymatic Hydrolysis of Cellulose to Fermentable Sugar for Production of Ethanol", <u>29th</u> <u>Cana-</u> dian Engineering Conference, Ontario, Canada (1979).
- 23. Kelsey, R. G., Shafizadeh, F., <u>Biotech</u>. <u>Bioeng</u>., <u>22</u>, 1025 (1980).
- 24. Wilke, C.R., "Process Development Studies on the Bioconversion of Cellulose and Production of Ethanol", University of California, Berkeley, UCLBL-6881 (1978).
- 25. Wilke, C.R., Yang, R.D., Sciamanna, A.F. and Freitas, R.P. Biotech. & Bioeng., 23, 163, (1981).
- 26. Noble, G. and Nguyen, Q., "Preparation of Powdered Feedstock From Biomass With Steam", <u>Specialist's</u> <u>Workshop on Fast Pyrolysis of Biomass</u>, Copper Mountain, Colorado (1980).
- 27. Mandels, M. and Reese, E.T., <u>J</u>. <u>Bacteriol</u>., <u>73</u>, 269 (1957).
- 28. Tangnu, K., Wilke, C.R. and Blanch, H.W. <u>Biotech</u>. Bioeng., 23, (8) 1837 (1981).

- 29. Gulf Chemicals, Inc., SERI Report. December 1, 1971 -October 25, 1980, pp. 3-5.
- 30. Markanin, P., Enari, T.M., "Production of Cellulolytic Enzymes by Fungi", <u>Adv. Biochem. Eng., 5</u>, pp. 1-24 (1977).
- 31. Yamanaka, Y., and Wilke, C.R., Ph.D. thesis, "The Effect of B-glucocidase on the Enzymatic Hydrolysis of Cellulose", University of California, Berkeley, UCLBL-4413 (1975).
- 32. Howell, M.J., and Wilke, C.R., M.S. thesis, "Process Development Studies for the Production of Bglucosidase From Aspergillus Phoenicis", University of California, Berkeley, UCLBL-7867 (1978).
- 33. Nystrom, J.M. and Kornuta, K.A., <u>Symposium on Enzymatic</u> <u>Hydrolysis of Cellulose</u>, Aulanko, Finland (1975).
- 34. Wilke, C.R., Yang, R.D. and Von Stockar, U., "Preliminary Cost Analysis for Enzymatic Hydrolysis of Newsprint", University of California, Berkeley. UCLBL-4408 (1975).
- 35. Wilke, C.R. and Mitra, G., <u>Biotech</u>. <u>Bioeng</u>., <u>17</u>, 1 (1975).
- 36. Knappert, D.R., "Partial Acid Hydrolysis of Cellulose as a Means of Increasing the Rate of Enzymatic Hydrolysis", Masters thesis, Dartmouth College, (1978).

- 37. Borrevick, R.K., Wilke, C.R. and Brink, D.L., M.S. thesis, "The Effect of Nitrogen Oxide Pretreatments on Enzymatic Hydrolysis of Cellulose", University of California, Berkeley. UCLBL-7879 (1978).
- 38. Kleinert, T.N., TAPPI, 57, #8, 99 (1974).
- 39. Fan, L.T., Lee, Y.H. and Beardmore, D.H. <u>Biotech</u>. Bioeng., 22, 177 (1980).
- 40. Castanon, M. and Wilke, C.R., <u>Biotech</u>. <u>Bioeng</u>., <u>22</u>, 1037 (1980).
- 41. Ige, R.T. and Wilke, C.R., M.S. thesis, "Recovery of the Cellulase Enzyme System of <u>T. viride</u> by Acetone Precipitation", University of California, Berkeley. UCLBL-3057 (1974).
- 42 Wang, D.I.C., Sinskey, A.J. and Butterworth, Y.A. "Enzyme Processing Using Ultrafiltration", <u>Ind. Biol.</u> <u>Waste Treat. Process, Proc. Symp.</u>, pp. 98-119. (1969).
- 43. VickRoy, B. Ph.D. thesis in preparation. University of California, Berkeley.
- 44. Technical Literature, Western Dynetics, Inc.
- 45. Spall, K. University of California, Berkeley. Personal communication.
- 46. Riaz, M. and Wilke, C.R., "Studies of Desorption of Cellulase from Cellulose with Various Reagents",

University of California, Berkeley, UCLBL-7889.

- 47. Dove, G., M.S. thesis in progress. University of California, Berkeley.
- 48. Suzuki, S., Shiral, T., Tanoka, S. and Karube, I. Biotech. Bioeng., 19, 1183 (1977).
- 49. Emert, G.H., Takagi, M., Pemberton, M.S. and Blotkamp, P.J. <u>AIChE Symposium Series</u>, <u>74</u>, (181), 85 (1978).
- 50. Jenkins, D.M. and Redds, T.S., "Economic Evaluation of the M.I.T. Process for Manufacture of Ethanol", Report to U.S. Department of Energy from Batelle, Columbus Laboratories, Columbus, Ohio (1979).
- 51. Emert, G.H., Katzen, R., Fredrickson, R.E. and Kaupish, K.F. CEP, Sept. 1980.
- 52. Amemura, A. and Terui, G. <u>J. Ferment. Technol.</u>, <u>43</u>, 281 (1965).

# 3. Previous Work

Much of the information and assumptions made by this work to conduct a process evaluation of new experimental results is based on the work of previous investigators at this University during 1975-1980. Section 3.1 presents the chronological development of the Berkeley process, and points out design innovations. Section 3.2 presents a summary of economic evaluation results obtained for the Berkeley process and the processes discussed in Chapter 2.

## 3.1. Development of the Berkeley Process

# <u>3.1.1. Process Recovering Cellulase in Solution and</u> Adsorbed onto Solids

Figure 3.1 presents a flow sheet of a process developed by Mitra and Wilke (1) to produce 429 tons/day of reducing sugars from 885 tons/day of newsprint. Substrate pretreatment consists of shredding followed by hammermilling. Hydrolysis takes place at 50<sup>°</sup> C and pH 4.8 for 40 hours. Using 10% solids suspension and cellulase activity of 2.7 filter paper units, 82% conversion of available cellulose is obtained. Enzymes are recovered from the product stream by contacting with incoming solids in five countercurrent mixer-filter stages. Cellulase bound to unreacted solids are recovered by washing with water in 6 countercurrent mixer-filter stages, total enzyme recovery reported was 85%.

Make-up enzyme consisting of 15% of the amount used in



Figure 3.1 Flow sheet, Process of Wilke and Mitra. From (1).

XBL7310-4385

hydrolysis is produced in a two stage continuous fermentation scheme. Utilizing <u>T. reesei</u> QM9414 a cellulase solution having an activity of 1.3 F.P.A. is obtained. Dilution rates of 0.181 and 0.0181 reciprocal hours for the cell growth and induction stages are used.

High cellulase concentration in the hydrolysis step are achieved by precipitating the make-up enzyme with acetone and feeding solid protein to the reactor. Acetone is recovered by distillation. The ratio of acetone to cellulase solution used is 3:1 v/v found by Ige (2) to be optimal for activity recovery.

This process incorporates a number of features used in subsequent designs, including two stage continuous cellulase production with separate growth and induction stages, combustion of unreacted solids to generate steam and electricity, and recovery of cellulases by adsorption onto fresh solids. A key assumption made was that hammermilling would produce -200 mesh solids; in conducting hydrolysis experiments, Mitra employed -200 mesh newsprint obtained by ballmilling.

# <u>3.1.2. Process with Increased Cellulase Productivity Using</u> Cell Recycle

Figure 3-2 presents a processing scheme developed by Von Stockar, Yang and Wilke (3). A key innovation of this process is the use of cell recycle to enhance the produc-



### XBL 756-3074A

i.

Figure 3.2. Flow Diagram of Process of Wilke, Von Stockar and Yang (3).

#### Chapter 3

tivity of <u>T</u>. <u>reesei</u> QM9414 to 16 IU/1/hr. A steady state cell density of seven grams per litre is obtained by recycling 65% of the cells leaving the last induction stage. This technique makes enzyme precipitation unnecessary to achieve enzyme concentration of 3.5 F.P.A. in the hydrolysis reactor.

Recovery of cellulase adsorbed onto unreacted solids is eliminated from this scheme. Yang (4) was unable to measure cellulase activity in supernatants obtained by washing unreacted hydrolysis solids. Cellulase is recovered from the product stream by contacting with fresh solids in 3 countercurrent stages to regain 35% of the enzymes employed. The use of only three equilibrium contacting stages was shown by Yamanaka (5) to be sufficient to recover 98% of the enzyme in solution.

This process eliminates the use of ball milled quality substrate and assumes that hammermilling provides -20 mesh newsprint. Savings in milling cost are offset by lower hydrolysis conversion. Fifty percent of cellulose is hydrolyzed in 40 hours with a newsprint concentration of 4%. Hydrolysis is carried out at 45° C rather than at 50° C to reduce enzyme denaturation.

## 3.1.3. Corn Stover Hydrolysis Process

The process described in Section 3.1.2 was modified by Yang and Wilke (6) to utilize corn stover, and integrated

with an ethanol manufacturing scheme. Figure 3-3 presents a material flow diagram of this process. Substrate is hammermilled and undergoes dilute acid pretreatment to extract a pentose stream. Enzyme recovery is carried out in two mixer-filter stages, recovering 58% of the cellulase employed. Hydrolysis of a 5% corn stover suspension yields 40% conversion of cellulose in 40 hours. A 2.6% glucose stream is obtained by recycling one half of the product stream back to the hydrolysis reactors.

Enzyme make-up is produced in a two stage continuous fermentation of <u>T</u>. <u>reesei</u> QM9414 recycling 80% of the exit stream cells to the first stage. An overall dilution rate of .027 hr.<sup>-1</sup> is employed. Carbon source is identified as delignified cellulose, but the type is not specified.

Coupling of glucose production with ethanol fermentation requires concentrating the glucose stream to 11% prior to entering the ethanol fermentors. A seven effect evaporator is used for this purpose.

This process has been employed as a basis of comparison for evaluation of subsequent process improvement work because operating cost data is available for the various processing steps.

# 3.1.4. Corn Stover Process Optimization

Using a simple Michaelis-Menten kinetic model, Lindsey(7) performed an optimization of the process described in





e 3.3 Berkeley Process. Material Balance Flow Diagram for Integrated Processing Scheme (Wilke and Yang (6).

#### Chapter 3

section 3.1.3. The optimization evaluated substrate concentration of 2.5-10%, enzyme activities of 2.1-5.6 F.P.A and hydrolysis recycle fractions of 0-.75. Fixed unit costs were assumed for acid treated corn stover and cellulase produced with <u>T</u>. reesei QM9414. Enzyme recovery was assumed to be constant at 40% of the utilized cellulase.

The reported optimum utilized 5% solid suspension with cellulase of 2.1 F.P.A. to obtain 39% conversion in 62 hours. This result points out the high cost of producing enzyme when compared to other variables and when the cost of corn stover is zero. The effect of changes in enzyme production costs, substrate cost, and enzyme recovery on the cost of producing glucose was investigated but the effect of these variables on the optimum process conditions was not shown.

The economic evaluation presented in this work is analogous in method to Lindsey's (7), however the range of operation is expanded and the search for an optimum accounts for variations in unit cost of producing enzymes and in pretreating the substrate, and uses enzyme recovery levels measured experimentally.

#### 3.2. Process Evaluation

Wilke et al. (8) have presented a summary of reported process economics for production of ethanol from glucose by several enzymatic hydrolysis processes (Table 3-1). Com-

TABLE 3-1 Process Cost Analysis

		:	·	
Process Date	Natick Oct. 1979	Berkeley 1977	Gulf/Arkansas 1981 and 1983	M.I.T. June 1979
Ethanol Capacity (10 <sup>6</sup> U.S. gal/yr.)	25	10	25	27
Substrate	urban waste	corn stover	urban and pulp mill waste	corn stover
Substrate Cost \$/ton substrate \$/gal EtOH	6.06 0.132	30 1.31	15.75 0.205	30.00
Total Capital (\$ 10 <sup>6</sup> )	65.1	36.4	75.9 (1981)	34.3
Manufacturing Cost Without credits (\$/gal) With credits	1.22 0.94	3.11 2.73	1.65 (1983) 0.749 (1983)	l.05 (with profit)
(\$/gal)				

After Wilke, C.R., et al., (8).

្រូ

plete summaries of these evaluations and their assumptions are not available, therefore comparison on a uniform basis is not possible.

Evaluation of the Gulf/Arkansas and MIT processes was based on processing conditions not yet verified experimentally. Natick's process relies on 2-roll compression milling to achieve high cellulose conversion with perhaps optimistic milling costs. All process evaluations cited are subject to uncertainties in feedstock prices and marketability and selling price of byproducts such as yeast.

When adjusted for inflation, Yang's estimate of the price of glucose manufactured from corn stover costing \$0-30/ton is 16-25 cents per pound. This price is based on a number of unverified assumptions or assumes technology not yet available:

- Carbon and nitrogen sources for enzyme production are assumed to be inexpensive industrial feedstocks.
- Hydrolysis is carried out in open air tanks for 40 hours without growth inhibitors or contamination.
- Enzyme production employs agitated vessels with a volume of 500,000 gallons.

In view of these assumptions the estimated price of 16-25 cents per pound may be somewhat optimistic.

Economic evaluations with tentative processes such as

the ones covered in the last two chapters can be performed only if a large number of assumptions are made. The estimates generated, including the one provided in this work, are likely to carry an uncertainty of  $\pm 25$ % (9) if most of the processing conditions are defined, and can have substantially larger variances depending on the number and quality of the assumptions made.

#### References: Chapter 3

- Mitra, G. and Wilke, C.R., Ph.D. thesis, "Enzymatic Utilization of Waste Cellulosics", University of California, Berkeley, UCLBL-2334 (1975).
- 2. Ige, R.T., and Wilke, C.R., M.S. thesis, "Recovery of Cellulase Enzyme System of <u>T. viride</u> by Acetone Precipitation", University of California, Berkeley, UCLBL-3057 (1974).
- 3. Yang, R.D., Von Stockar, U., and Wilke, C.R., "Preliminary Cost Analysis for Enzymatic Hydrolysis of Newsprint", University of California, Berkeley, UCLBL-4408 (1975).
- Yang, R.D. and Wilke, C.R., <u>Applied Polymer Symposium</u>, 28, 175 (1975).
- 5. Yamanaka, Y. and Wilke, C.R., Ph.D. thesis, "The Effect of B-glucosidase on the Enzymatic Hydrolysis of Cellulose", University of California, Berkeley, UCLBL-4413 (1975).
- Wilke, C.R., Yang, R.D., Sciamanna, A.F. and Freitas,
   R.P. Biotech. & Bioeng., 23, 163, (1981).
- 7. Lindsey, R.R. and Wilke, C.R., M.S. thesis, "Process Design and Optimization of Cellulose Hydrolysis", University of California, Berkeley, UCLBL-7864 (1978).

- Wilke, C.R., Maiorella, B., Sciamanna, A., Tangnu, K., Wiley, D., and Wong, H. "Enzymatic Hydrolysis of Cellulose, Theory and Applications", for Office of Economic Development (1980), Paris, France. University of California, Berkeley, LBL-13699 (1981).
- 9. Peters, M.S. and Timmerhaus, K.D., <u>Plant Design</u> and Economics for Chemical Engineers, Third Edition, 1980.

## 4. Experimental Procedures

# 4.1. Corn Stover Composition Determination

Prior to utilization, the composition of corn stover employed was determined following Wilke, et al. (1). A summary of this procedure is presented in Figure 4-1. Following milling and seiving, solids are extracted with benzene and alcohol to determine its soluble organics content. Solids are then exhaustively hydrolyzed with concentrated sulfuric acid to determine the carbohydrate content. The unhydrolyzed solids are burned, providing a determination of ash, measured as solids remaining after burning, and acid insoluble matter including lignin, measured as the weight loss of solids.

The lignin content is found by washing some benzenealcohol extracted solids with water, exhaustively hydrolyzing the solids and burning the residue. The solid remaining after burning is ash and lignin is measured as the weight loss upon burning. A complete description of the solids composition determination procedure is provided in Appendix A.1.

# 4.2. Substrate Pretreatment

# 4.2.1. Dilute Acid Pretreatment

Prior to utilization in hydrolysis experiments, corn stover was milled to 2 mm. particle size in a hammer mill Figure 4-1 SCHEME FOR SOLIDS ANALYSIS

SOLID MATERIAL wiley mill, sieve, dry at 105°C 40-60 MESH FRACTION benzene/ethanol extraction EXTRACTIVES CONTENT GOP, GLC exhaustive methods EXTRACTED LIQUOR CARBOHYDRATE ---> -> hydrolysis MATERIAL CONTENT dry weight RESIDUE ----> TOTAL ACID INSOLUBLES & ash (including lignin) H<sub>2</sub>O wash H20 WASH FACTOR H\_0 WASHED exhaustive MATERIAL ----> discard LIQUOR hydrolysis dry weight ----> LIGNIN CONTENT RESIDUE & ash

After Wilke, C.R., et al. (1)

### Chapter 4

and treated with sulfuric acid to hydrolyze hemicellulose following a procedure from Wilke, et al. (2). Two hundred and fifty (250) grams of corn stover were added to three liters of boiling sulfuric acid contained in a 5 liter round bottom, three neck flask heated with a glass-col heater. The mixture is stirred at 40-50 rpm and maintained at 100 ° C for 5.5 hours. Water loss due to evaporation was prevented by fitting a water cooled condenser to the flask vent.

On selected pretreatment runs, samples were periodically collected and analyzed for glucose and xylose concentration using a liquid chromatograph.

After 5.5 hours, the solid suspension was filtered in a Buchner funnel. The solids were reunder vacuum suspended in 3 liters of water and filtered twice prior to being neutralized to pH. 5 with 10 N. NaOH. Following neutralization, the solid suspension was filtered, washed with liters of water and filtered to near dryness. Pretreated 2 solids were allowed to dry to ambient moisture and pretreatliquors and wash liquors were discarded. The composiment tion of pretreated corn stover was determined using the procedure outlined in section 4.1.

## 4.2.2. Explosive Steam Decompression

Corn stover samples were shipped to the Iotech Corporation, Ontario, Canada for pretreatment in their explosive steam decomposition apparatus. Exact conditions of pretreatment were not revealed by Iotech, instead ranges of processing variables were supplied. Corn stover was contacted with steam at a pressure of 500-1000 psi for times ranging from 5 seconds to 5 minutes in a pressure chamber prior to being released to atmosphere (3). Figure 4-2 presents a schematic diagram of Iotech's pretreatment apparatus.

Pretreated material was received frozen and was analyzed for moisture content, soluble lignin, and for glucose and xylose produced during pretreatment.

#### 4.2.3. Acid-Base Pretreatment

Air dried acid treated corn stover was added to one liter of 0.25 M. sodium hydroxide boiling in a 3 liter flask. Corn stover suspension was 10% by weight. The reaction flask vent was fitted with a water cooled condenser to prevent water loss and with an ascarite carbon dioxide absorber to prevent carbon dioxide from dissolving into the sodium hydroxide solution.

After 3 hours, the solids were filtered, washed, neutralized, re-filtered and allowed to dry to ambient moisture.

### 4.3. Enzyme Production



Exploded Biomass

# XBL 819-6467

Figure 4.2 Schematic Diagram of the Iotech Corporation Explosive Steam Decompression Apparatus.
<u>4.3.1. Cellulase Production for Use in Hydrolysis Experi-</u> ments

Cellulase was produced in batch fermentation utilizing <u>T</u>. <u>reesei</u> Rut C-30 following Tangnu, et al. (4). Viable cultures of <u>T</u>. <u>reesei</u> were maintained on refrigerated potato dextrose agar slants (PDA). Five hundred ml. Erlenmeyer flasks containing 200 ml. of nutrient medium, including 1% glucose, were inoculated from PDA slants and incubated for 96 hours at  $28^{\circ}$  C in an orbital shaker. Cultures in these flasks were used as inoculum (10%) for flasks containing 200 ml. nutrient medium, including 1% Solka Floc. Upon incubation for 5-6 days in an orbital shaker at  $28^{\circ}$  C this culture served as inoculum for a fermentor.

Cellulases were produced by batch fermentation in a 14 liter New Brunswick Scientific Company fermentor with working volume of 10 liters. The nutrient medium employed is shown in Table 4-1. Carbon source was Solka Floc at concentration of 50 g/L. Temperature and pH were controlled at  $28^{\circ}$  C and pH of 5 or greater, respectively. Agitation was maintained at 300-400 rpm and air was supplied at 0.2 vvm.

Samples were periodically collected and analyzed for overall activity toward filter paper (FPA), CMC as activity (Cx), activity toward cotton ( $C_1$ ), B-glucosidase activity and soluble protein. A summary of these assay procedures are provided in Appendix A.3,4,5,6,8.

TABLE	4-1
-------	-----

Cellulase Production  $Medium^1$ 

Components (g/l)	Cellulose	Concentration
	10 g/L	50 g/L
(NH <sub>4</sub> ) <sub>2</sub> SO <sub>4</sub>	1.4	11.6
кн <sub>2</sub> ро <sub>4</sub>	2.0	3.8
MgSO4	0.15	0.3
CaCl <sub>2</sub> • 2H <sub>2</sub> O	0.4	0.8
Peptone	1.0	2.9
Tween-80 (ml)	0.2	0.2
Trace elements (mg/l)		
FeS0 <sub>4</sub> • 7H <sub>2</sub> 0	5.0	5.0
MnSO <sub>4</sub> • H <sub>2</sub> O	0.6	1.6
ZnS0 <sub>4</sub> * 7H <sub>2</sub> 0	1.4	1.4
CoCl <sub>2</sub>	2.0	2.0

<sup>1</sup> After Tangnu, et al. (4)

#### Chapter 4

After 6-7 days the cellulase solution was harvested. Mycelia were removed by filtering the raw culture through glass wool. The enzyme solution was buffered to a pH of 5 by adding 0.05 <u>M</u> acetate buffer and 0.02% sodium azide was added to prevent microbial growth. The solution was refrigerated until used.

# <u>4.3.2.</u> Shake Flask Studies with Steam Exploded Corn Stover as Substrate

Corn stover pretreated by steam explosion was suspended in water to form a 10% suspension. The solids were alternately filtered and resuspended four times until the filtrate lost most of its pigment. Twenty g/L of this .material, 20 g/L of unwashed material and 10 g/L Solka Floc served as carbon source for different shake flasks. Media for these flasks were prepared as described in section 4.3.1. Flasks were incubated in a shaker bath at 28° C. Samples were withdrawn from these flasks and were analyzed for cellulolytic activity by the methods described in Appendix A.

After 3 days, an inoculum was withdrawn from the shake flasks and was used to seed new shake flasks prepared as previously described. This procedure was repeated until 3 generations of shake flasks were incubated. Sampling on each flask continued for periods of 8 days.

#### 4.3.3. Fermentation with Corn Stover as Carbon Source

Batch fermentations employing acid-treated corn stover,

acid-base treated corn stover or water washed steam exploded corn stover were conducted on a 3 liter scale. Medium and fermentation conditions used were described in section 4.3.1. Corn stover was added at a concentration of 20 g/L, providing a cellulose concentration of approximately 10 g/L. Samples were analyzed for filter paper activity during the course of the fermentation.

#### 4.4. Hydrolysis Experiments

#### 4.4.1. Hydrolysis of Acid Treated Corn Stover

Batch hydrolysis experiments were conducted for a period of 24 and 48 hours employing substrate concentrations varying from 5 to 25% by weight and enzyme activities ranging from 0.5 to 7 IU/ml. Experiments were carried out in 600 ml. Erlenmeyer flasks containing 150 ml. of cellulase solution. The contents were stirred at approximately 150 rpm and were maintained at a constant temperature of 45° C and pH of 5.

In experiments with substrate concentrations exceeding 10% by weight, stepwise addition of substrate was employed. After an initial solids loading of 5 to 10%, the reaction was allowed to proceed for one-half hour at which point an increment of corn stover was added. Additional substrate increments enabled 25% total substrate concentrations to be achieved in 3 hours.

During the course of the reaction samples were

#### Chapter 4

withdrawn and analyzed for reducing sugars using the DNS method (Appendix A.2). Selected samples were analyzed for specific sugars using a high pressure liquid chromatograph and the overall activity of the enzyme remaining in solution was measured using the filter paper assay (Appendix A.4). A limited number of samples were also analyzed for activity toward cotton and CMC and for B-glucosidase activity. Procedures followed for these assays are listed in Appendix A.4, 5, 6.

Enzymes present in hydrolysates were precipitated with acetone prior to being measured for activity. This was necessary because high reducing sugar concentrations found in hydrolysates created high sugar backgrounds, and interfered with measurement of sugars produced during the test. A description of this procedure is presented in Appendix A.7.

# 4.4.2. Hydrolysis with Steam Exploded Corn Stover

Batch hydrolysis experiments were conducted for a period of 48 hours employing freeze dried substrate at concentrations of 5 to 35% and enzyme activities of 1 to 7 IU/ml. Experiments were carried out in 600 ml Erlenmeyer flasks containing 150 ml. of cellulase solution. The contents were stirred at approximately 150 rpm and were maintained at a constant temperature of 45° C and pH of 5. Stepwise addition of substrate to achieve high solids concentration was not employed.

#### Chapter 4

During the course of the reaction, samples were withdrawn and analyzed for glucose, xylose and cellobiose using a high pressure liquid chromatograph. Selected samples were analyzed for filter paper activities after precipitation with acetone (5).

4.5. Miscellaneous

#### 4.5.1. Hydrolysis Spent Solids Washing

Hydrolysis suspensions obtained by hydrolyzing 5, 15, 25% initial suspensions of acid treated corn stover for and 24 hours were vacuum filtered in a Buchner funnel. Hydrolysate liquid was assayed for reducing sugars using the DNS method and the total volume collected was recorded. One inch thick plugs of the unhydrolyzed solids were washed with distilled water. Each wash, consisting of a volume of water retained by the cake, was collected and analyzed for reductotal of five cake volume washes ing sugars. Α were employed.

#### 4.5.2. Relative Filtration Rates of Hydrolysis Suspensions

Hydrolysis suspensions obtained by hydrolyzing 5-25% initial solids suspensions for 24 hours were filtered under vacuum in a Buchner funnel. The filtrate volume collected during two minutes of filtration through a 1/2 inch thick, 12.5 cm. diameter solids bed was measured.

#### References: Chapter 4

- Wilke, C.R., Sciamanna, A., Freitas, R. and Long, B. "Procedures for Analysis of Solids and Liquors from Cellulosic Sources." University of California, Berkeley. UCLBL-5967.
- Wilke, C.R., Freitas, R.P. and Sciamanna, A.F. "Composition and Utilization of Cellulose for Chemicals from Agricultural Residues." University of California, Berkeley. UCLBL-5966.
- Noble, G., Personal communication. Iotech Corporation, Ltd., Ottawa, Ontario, Canada.
- 4. Tangnu, S.K., Wilke, C.R. and Blanch, H.W. <u>Biotech</u>. Bioeng., 23, (8) 1837 (1981).
- 5. Ige, R., Wilke, C.R. "Recovery of Cellulase Enzyme System of <u>Trichoderma</u> <u>viride</u> by Acetone Precipitation", University of California, Berkeley, LBL-3057, June 1974.

81.2

#### 5. Experimental Results and Discussion

#### 5.1. Substrate Composition and Pretreatment

## 5.1.1. Corn Stover Composition

Table 5-1 presents a summary of the composition of corn stover obtained from the University of California, Davis. A glucose content of 41% is typical of corn stover, a xylose content of 19% is higher than normal. Preliminary work reported in this chapter also employed corn stover obtained from Purdue University, which contained 40% glucose and 16% xylose equivalents. The composition reported for California corn stover does not account for 14% of the material. This is due to dirt and proteins which were not measured.

> TABLE 5-1 Corn Stover Composition <sup>1</sup> Assay (100% Dry)

ક્ર	Carbo	hydrate	% <u>Sugar</u> Equivalent				
	36.7 17.0 2.2	Glucan Xylan Arabinan	40.7 19.3 2.5	Glucose Xylose Arabinose			
Σ=	= 55.9	Carbohydrate	Σ=62.5	Sugar Equivalent			

ll.4 Lignin

18.5 Ash ( ≈ 21.5 as actual silicates,obvious presence soil) 6.5 Ethanol/Benzene Extractives

- 0.4 Acid Insolubles
- N.D. Protein,

**Σ**=95.7

 University of California, Davis Fall, 1980 crop

#### 5.1.2. Dilute Acid Pretreatment

Figure 5-1 presents a typical sugar concentration versus time profile for dilute acid pretreatment of corn stover. Typically 60-70% of available xylose is obtained along with 5-6% of available glucans. Xylose is produced continuously during the 5.5 hour period, with rates slowing after 4-5 hours. Glucose production is finished in 2 hours.

Following pretreatment, 60% of the original material is recovered as solids. The composition of corn stover after pretreatment is given in Table 5-2. Xylose composition has been reduced to 10%, glucose composition has been increased to 57% by removal of xylose and acid soluble material.

Xylose conversions observed were 10-15% lower than those reported by Wilke, et al. (1). A discrepancy of this magnitude is not unusual. Substrate crystallinity, lignin content and porosity varies from crop to crop.

Indiana corn stover employed in preliminary work contained 57% glucan and 10.2% xylan after pretreatment.

#### 5.1.3. Steam Explosion Pretreatment

Steam exploded corn stover received from the Iotech Corporation contained 65% by weight water. Of the original solids, 33% were soluble in benzene alcohol, 24% of lignin was soluble in 80°C water, 40% of available hemicellulose and 11% of available cellulose was converted to xylose and



XBL819-6468



Pretreated Corn Stover Composition<sup>1</sup> Assay (100% Dry)

% Carbohydrate

% Sugar Equivalent

51.3 Glucan 8.8 Xylan 57% Glucose 10% Xylose

 $\overline{\Sigma}$ =60.1 Carbohydrate

Σ=67% Sugar Equivalent

15.1 Lignin
5.4 Ash (~ 7.3 as actual silicates)
6.0 BZ/EtOH Extractives
N.D. Protein

∑= 88.5<sup>\*</sup>

\* Balance comprised of the unknown value for (dirt/oxides) and protein content, not determined.

 Acid treated corn stover, University of California, Davis. Fall, 1980 crop.

glucose respectively.

The moisture content observed was consistent with typical values reported by Iotech (2). This large amount of moisture stems from steam condensing on the solids during the later stages of pretreatment. The amount of water soluble lignin measured is consistent with typical values reported by Iotech. Comparison of xylose and glucose conversions is postponed until section 5.4 where enzymatic hydrolysis data is discussed.

5.2. <u>Cellulase Production with T. reesei</u> (<u>Rut-C-30</u>)

5.2.1. Batch Cultures Employing Solka Floc as Carbon Source

Results from batch production of cellulase obtained by this work and by Tangnu (3) and Wiley (4) are presented in Table 5-3. Batches conducted in 1979 and in 1980 employed cultures from different slants supplied by Rutgers University. Those batches grown from the 1979 slant produced higher levels of component activities and soluble protein.

Wald (5) analyzed this data on the basis of specific activity production, measured as the ratio of a given component activity and the amount of soluble protein present in the culture, and observed that the ratio of component activity to soluble protein was reasonably constant for the data presented in Table 5-3. From this, it may be observed that lower activities obtained with the 1980 slant were linked to reduced protein synthesis by the strain. An

Ref	Date	FPA (U/ml)	c <sub>1</sub>	CMC	Cello- biáse	Soluble Protein (g/L)
(3)	7/79	14	1.2	313	23	22
(4)	12/79	9.4	0.7	150	14	12
this work	4/80	5.6	0.2	103	10.3	8.4
this work	9/80	4.1	0.4	140	8.6	8.5
.(4)	11/80	7.0	0.4	193	7.9	14

TABLE 5-3 Cellulase Production in Batch Cultures of <u>T. reesei</u> (Rut-C-30)

All data from 10 liter batch cultures, 5% Solka Floc, 144 hours.

#### Chapter 5

exception to this observation is the 11/80 run which contained a high level of soluble protein and low ratios of FPA, C<sub>1</sub> and cellobiase. Production of cellobiase in batch culture showed a consistent decrease with slant culture age for experiments carried out with both cultures.

Table 5-4 presents a summary of cellulase production results obtained by Gulf Oil Chemical Co. (6) during pilot scale batch fermentation of <u>T. reesei</u> Rut-C-30. High activity is again associated with high soluble protein production, although some exceptions are evident. There appears to be significant variability in the ratio of cellulase components produced from batch to batch. Reduction of cellobiase production with time is also apparent from these data.

Consistent production of high activity cellulase solutions has not been demonstrated thus far. Variability in reported data may be linked to oxygen transport limitations. Batches producing low enzyme activity were observed to produce a green pigment. During shake flask studies, it was possible to remove the green coloring from cultures by increasing the degree of agitation (7). Decrease in activity with culture age may indicate strain instability. Further work is needed to understand the metabolic behavior of Rut-C-30 and to define operating conditions which produce cellulase at consistent activities and ratios.

TABLE 5-4	Cellulase	e Prod	lucti	ion,	Batch	Pilot
	Studies,	Gulf	0i1	Chem	icals	(6)

Run	.FPA	c <sub>l</sub>	°x	B-g	Soluble Protein	FPA/SP	C <sub>1</sub> /SP	C <sub>x</sub> /SP	B-g/SP
		-(IU/1	ml)		(g/L)				
17	10.5	0.13	113		17.4	0.60	0.01	6.7	·
18	5.4	0.08	82		13.5	0.40	0.01	6.1	
20	11.7	1.0	273		23	0.51	0.04	11.9	<del>-</del>
21	10.0	1.4	196		17.3	0.58	0.08	11.3	<b></b> .
23	8.6	1.0	199	21.4	23	0.37	0.04	8.6	0.9
24	2.5	0.4	83	11.0	10.5	0.24	0.04	7.9	1.0
33	6.5	0.6	79	6.5	18	0.36	0.03	4.4	0.4
34	10.3	0.92	106	8.9	25.1	0.41	0.04	4.2	0.4
40	9.3		82	7.7	17.4	0.53		4.7	0.4
43	4.2	0.2	48	5.0	11.7	0•36	0.02	4.1	0.4
44	7.1	0.33	61	6.7	16.4	0.43	0.02	3.7	0.4

1. T. reesei Rut-C-30, 144 hours, 5% Solka Floc.

# 5.2.2. Cellulase production with Steam Exploded Corn Stover as Substrate

Figure 5-2 presents time versus cellulase activity profiles for shake flask studies employing Solka Floc and steam exploded corn stover as carbon sources. Activities reported relative comparison only since the cellulase proserve as duced during shake flask incubation is in a region where assay sensitivities are poor. T. reesei appeared to grow well on washed steam exploded corn stover and produced cellulase activities comparable to those produced with solka floc. Similar fermentations with unwashed steam exploded corn stover produced no measurable cellulase activity even after three generations of shake flasks. Streaked PDA plates from all shake flasks showed no signs of contamination. PDA plates streaked with cultures grown on unwashed corn stover showed a lag period prior to resuming growth.

Further work is needed to determine the proper adaptation technique to allow <u>T</u>. <u>reesei</u> to grow on unwashed steam exploded corn stover. Cellulase production is inhibited by a soluble compound found in the corn stover after steam explosion. Lignin or soluble acids are possible inhibitors found in the stover. The presence of glucose in high concentrations may also act as a repressor.

#### 5.2.3. Batch Fermentation of T. reesei with Corn Stover

Table 5-5 presents a summary of 3 liter batch fermenta-



XBL 819-6469



conducted using various forms of tions pretreated corn stover as carbon source. Two-thirds of the activity produced with solka Floc as substrate was obtained when acidbase treated corn stover was used. Water washed steam exploded corn stover produced approximately half the activity measured when Solka Floc used. Negligible was activity was produced when acid treated corn stover was employed, demonstrating that delignification is necessary to allow T. reesei to grow on waste cellulose.

> TABLE 5-5 Cellulase Production With Batch Cultures of T. reesei Using Corn Stover as Carbon Source

Substrate		Filter Paper Activity (U/ml)
Solka Floc	10g/L	3.1
Acid treated <sup>1</sup> Corn Stover	20 g/L	1.2
Acid-Base <sup>1</sup> treated Corn Stover	20 g/L	2.0
Steam Exploded Corn Stover, Water washed	20 g/L	1.4

1. with S.K. Tangnu

5.3. Enzymatic Hydrolysis of Acid Treated Corn Stover

5.3.1. Glucose Production

Figure 5-3 presents

typical

reducing

sugar



XBL 813-5449

# Figure 5-3 Reducing Sugar Production Versus Time during enzymatic hydrolysis.

Substrate: Acid treated California Corn Stover Enzyme: 5IU/ml Cellulase From Rut-C-30 (11/80)

#### Chapter 5

concentration versus reaction time curves for batch hydrolysis of acid treated corn stover. Hydrolysis was conducted for a period of 48 hours using cellulase with 5 IU/ml activity and California corn stover at initial substrate concentrations of 5-25%. Reducing sugar concentrations in the range of 90-100 g/l are observed when the stepwise addition technique described in Chapter 3 is employed to achieve substrate concentration of 25%. Following a rapid reaction rate during the first few hours, reducing sugar production proceeds slowly at a nearly linear rate from 8 to 48 hours. Appendix B.1 presents reducing sugar concentrations versus time profiles for hydrolysis conducted with substrate concentrations of 5-25% and enzyme activities of 0.5 to 7 IU/ml. These profiles, along with information regarding component sugars produced form a basis for the economic evaluation described in Chapters 6, 7 and 8.

Figure 5-4 shows component sugar concentrations versus time profiles for hydrolysis conducted with specific enzyme activity of 47.5 IU per gram of corn stover. Production of glucose proceeds slowly after 8 hours and appears nearly complete after 24 hours. Xylose production proceeds slowly at first and is complete in 12 hours. No cellobiose is formed under the conditions given.

Figure 5-5 shows component sugar concentrations versus time profiles for hydrolysis conducted with specific enzyme activity of 7.5 IU per gram of corn stover. Production of



#### XBL 819-6470







.

glucose proceeds more gradually initially and does not slow as dramatically as the reaction presented in Figure 5-4. After 24 hours, hydrolysis does not appear complete. Xylose production again stops after 12 hours. Cellobiose in solution undergoes a maximum early in the reaction and decreases to a fixed value after sixteen hours. The behavior of this reaction suggests a limitation on reaction rate by both overall activity and cellobiase activity. Rates may also be slowed by presence of glucose and cellobiose in high concentration. Appendix B.2 presents a summary of reaction profile studies.

Figure 5-6 presents a summary of glucose conversions at 48 hours as a function of substrate concentration and enzyme activity. Conversion decreases with increasing substrate concentration and increases with higher enzyme activity. The maximum conversion observed was 53%.

Figure 5-7 shows glucose conversion versus substrate concentration at different enzyme activities and reaction times. Reaction conditions with high ratio of enzyme to substrate lead to the same maximum conversion at a faster rate than reaction conditions with low ratio of enzyme to substrate. This suggests that enzyme activity has a major effect on reaction rate, not on the maximum conversion obtainable with a given substrate.

Figure 5-8 shows glucose conversion versus specific cellulase activity per gram of corn stover at 48 hours.



XBL 813-5447

Figure 5.6 Glucose Conversion vs Substrate Concentration and Enzyme. Acid Treated Corn Stover (California) with Cellulase from Rut C-30 (11/80).





Effect of Reaction Time on Hydrolysis Conversion.





98

¢ ,

#### Chapter 5

Addition of cellulase beyond 30 IU per gram of substrate produces no significant increase in glucose conversion.

## 5.3.2. Xylose Production

Figure 5-9 shows xylose concentration produced during enzymatic hydrolysis with different corn stover concentrations. Xylose concentration is directly proportional to substrate concentration and independent of enzyme activity utilized, indicating that xylanase was not present in limiting amounts. Xylose conversion was 40% for all experiments conducted.

## 5.3.3. Cellobiose Production

Figure 5-10 shows cellobiose concentration observed after 48 hours of hydrolysis versus specific cellobiase activity. Cellobiose accumulation results when specific cellobiase activity is less than 50 IU per gram of substrate. This suggests that a cellobiase to overall activity ratio of 2:1 would provide best hydrolysis results. Figure 5-11 presents glucose conversion versus specific cellulase activity for hydrolysis conducted at cellobiase to overall cellulase activity ratios of 1:1.1 and 1:1.9. Although maximum glucose conversion achieved is approximately the same, the runs with higher cellobiase activity require less overall cellulase activity to accomplish the same results.



XBL813-5450

# Figure 5-9 Xylose Production During Enzymatic Hydrolysis.

Acid Treated Corn Stover (California) Cellulase from Rut-C-30 (11/80).





Cellobiose Concentration versus Specific Cellobiase Activity. 89.





## 5.3.4. Enzyme Recovery

Figure 5-12 presents enzyme remaining in solution, as percent of original activity, as a function of substrate concentration and initial activity. For a given enzyme activity, enzyme remaining in solution decreases with increasing solids concentration. This behavior is expected since cellulase adsorbs onto cellulose. For a given substrate concentration, increasing the amount of cellulase used increases the amount of activity left in solution. However, this increase diminishes with each greater increment of cellulase employed, implying that an adsorption isotherm is present. Figure 5-13 presents a plot of adsorbed units IU/g in solution IU/ml, which confirms the existence of an adsorption equilibrium isotherm.

Figure 5-14 presents a plot of component activity remaining in solution versus hydrolysis time. Overall activity declines rapidly during the first hour of hydrolysis and continues to decrease gradually during the course of the reaction. Even though hydrolysis was proceeding, release of enzymes back into solution was not observed. This behavior is consistent with observations made by Castanon (8) on adsorption of cellulases onto newsprint. As shown by previous workers (8,9), B-glucosidase remains in solution to a much greater extent than any other component and C<sub>1</sub> is adsorbed to the greatest extent.





Figure 5-12. Enzyme Remaining in Solution After 24 hrs. of Hydrolysis.



X8L813-5444A

Figure 5.13. Apparent Adsorption Isotherm of Bound Enzyme (I.U./g) vs. Free Enzyme (I.U./ml).

93.



XBL 819-6474



5.3.5. Performance Comparison of Cellulase from QM9414 and Rut-C-30

Figure 5-15 compares hydrolysis of corn stover using cellulase from <u>T</u>. <u>reesei</u> strains QM9414 and Rut-C-30. Hydrolysis with strain Rut-C-30 displays a faster initial reaction rate. After 10 hours, reaction rates are roughly equivalent. Final conversion is 15% higher for the case employing cellulase from strain Rut-C-30. Further comparison between the two strains, accounting for all manufacturing variables, is covered in Chapter 8.

# 5.4. Hydrolysis of Steam Exploded Corn Stover

# 5.4.1. Glucose Production

Figure 5-16 shows a reaction profile for hydrolysis conducted with steam exploded corn stover at low specific enzyme activity. Although conversion to glucose was 62% in hours, glucose production proceeds at a slow rate 48 throughout the course of the reaction. This may be explained in part by the high cellobiose and glucose concentration present during the early stages of reaction and by the use of relatively dilute enzyme. Steam exploded corn stover used was freeze dried to remove excessive moisture. (10) hydrolyzing steam exploded wood have observed Workers that freeze drying the substrate slowed the rate of hydrolysis.

Figure 5-17 shows a similar experiment conducted at



<u>9</u>6


Figure 5.16 Hydrolysis of Steam Exploded Corn Stover at Low Specific Cellulase Activity.



XBL 818-6426

Figure 5.17 Hydrolysis of Steam Exploded Corn Stover at High Specific Cellulase Activity of 63 IU/g.

specific cellulase activity of 63 IU/g and substrate concentration of 10%. With sufficient enzyme activity available and lower initial glucose and cellobiose concentration, the reaction profile appears similar to those obtained with acid pretreated corn stover. Appendix B.3 provides a summary of hydrolysis conducted with steam exploded corn stover.

Figure 5-18 shows glucose conversion versus specific cellulase activity for hydrolysis conducted with steam exploded corn stover for 48 hours. Maximum conversion is 82%, requiring 30 IU/g specific cellulase activity. Although conversions are greatly increased by using steam exploded corn stover instead of acid treated corn stover, the amount of enzyme required to achieve maximum conversion in a given amount of time is roughly the same.

## 5.4.2. Enzyme Adsorption

Figure 5-19 compares the enzyme adsorption isotherm for steam exploded corn stover and cellulase from Rut-C-30 with a similar isotherm obtained with acid treated corn stover. The large amount of enzyme adsorbed onto cellulose in steam exploded corn stover, suggests that its surface area was greatly increased during pretreatment.

## 5.4.3. Xylose Production

Sixty to seventy percent of available pentoses were available after hydrolysis and pretreatment. This is roughly equivalent to the pentose conversion during dilute



XBL818-6427

Figure 5.18.

Glucose Conversion at 48 hours Versus Specific Cellulase Activity. Steam Exploded Corn Stover Cellulase from Rut-C-30 (11/80).



XBL 818-6428

Figure 5.19 Steam Exploded Corn Stover Cellulase Adsorption Isotherm.

Chapter 5

acid pretreatment, and within the range of conversions reported by Iotech.

#### 5.5. Miscellaneous Process Development Studies

## 5.5.1. Hydrolysis Solids Washing

Figure 5-20 shows the amount of total sugar recovered from hydrolysis after washing the spent solids with water. Typically 2-3 washes equal to the water retained in the filter cake were necessary to recover all sugar produced. Filter cakes from hydrolysis typically contained only 30% solids. This behavior suggests that unless a different method of filtration is employed for dewatering solids, benefits of high glucose concentration obtained from operating at high solids content will be diminished by dilution from washing.

## 5.5.2. Relative Filtration Rates

Figure 5-21 shows relative filtration rates obtained with solids from hydrolysis employing 5-25% solids concentration. Under equivalent surface area, cake thickness, pressure, and q' (specific cake resistance constant), the Carman equation predicts filtration rates will vary inversely proportional to the reciprocal solids concentration (figure 5-21). Observed rates are in qualitative agreement with predicted results with deviation probably due to q', which is a function of particle size. Hydrolysate slurries may have different particle size distributions due







## XBL 819-6478



to varying degrees of conversion or different extents of attrition caused by particle collision in different slurry concentrations.

#### 5.6. Kinetic Model For Acid Treated Corn Stover Hydrolysis

A kinetic model developed by Wald, <u>et al.</u>, (5) for enzymatic hydrolysis of acid pretreated agricultural residues was evaluated as a possible model to describe corn stover hydrolysis. The model incorporates concepts of heterogeneous catalysis for the cellulose to cellobiose reactions and Michaelis Menten kinetics for the homogeneous cellobiose to glucose reactions. The principal assumptions used in formulating the model are as follows:

- Cellulose is assumed to be composed of two regions, amorphous and crystalline, exhibiting different properties and reaction rates.
- 2. The cellulase enzyme system is adequately described by the filter paper and cellobiase activity measurement.
- 3. Adsorption of cellulase onto cellulose is fast and equilibrium exists at all times.

4. The reaction network shown in Figure 5-22 applies.

5. Degradation of cellulose is modelled as a shrinking shell containing an amorphous shell and a crystalline core. Particle size is assumed to follow a distribution function, measured experimentally.

# Figure 5-22 Cellulose Hydrolysis Reaction Network and Reaction Scheme (5)

A. Network:



B. Reaction Scheme:

G = Glucose G<sub>2</sub> = Cellobiose  $S_A$  = Amorphous Cellulose  $S_C$  = Crystalline Cellulose  $E_C$  = Cellulase  $E_B$  = Cellobiase

- 6. Shear and thermal denaturation of cellulase is neglected.
- Cellulase adsorption is a function of available cellulose surface area.
- Glucose formation by exo-B-1,4-glucanglucanohydrolase directly from cellulose is neglected.
- Cellobiose acts as an inhibitor by a non-competitive mechanism.
- 10. The reaction scheme presented in Figure 5-22 applies.

Figure 5-23 shows a comparison between predicted and observed hydrolysis reaction results. At high cellulase activity per gram of corn stover, the model predicts cellobiose and glucose reaction profiles closely. Glucose produced at 24 hrs. is underpredicted by approximately 6%. At low cellulase activity per gram of corn stover, qualitative description of glucose concentration versus time is obtained; however, the model overpredicts glucose production by 10%. Cellobiose concentrations after 8 hours reaction time are consistently underpredicted, possibly due to the assumption that cellobiase is not denatured during the course of the reaction. During this evaluation, inhibition and initial rate constants were not optimized; values numerically obtained by Wald (5) for rice straw hydrolysis were employed. A better fit may be obtained if these constants are numerically optimized and if initial reaction rates are



#### XBL 819-6504



## measured for corn stover hydrolysis.

#### References: Chapter 5

- Sciamanna, A.F., Freitas, R.P. and Wilke, C.R., "Composition and Utilization of Cellulose for Chemicals from Agricultural Residues." University of California, Berkeley, UCLBL-5966 (1977).
- 2. Noble, G. and Nguyen, Q., "Preparation of Powdered Feedstock from Biomass with Steam." <u>Specialists</u> <u>Workshop on Fast Pyrolysis of Wood</u>, SERI, Copper Mountain, Colorado (1980).
- Tangnu, S.K., Blanch, H.W., and Wilke, C.R., <u>Biotech</u>.
   Bioeng., 23, (8) 1837 (1981).
- 4. Wiley, D.F., Ph.D. thesis in preparation.
- 5. Wald, S.A., Blanch, H.W. and Wilke, C.R., M.S. thesis, "Enzymatic Hydrolysis of Rice Straw for Ethanol Production", University of California, Berkeley, (1981).
- Gulf Chemicals Inc., SERI Report, December 1, 1979 October 25, 1980, pp. 3-7.
- 7. Hendy, N., Department of Chemical Engineering, University of California, Berkeley. Personal communication.
- Castanon, M. and Wilke, C.R., <u>Biotech</u>. <u>Bioeng</u>., <u>22</u>, 1037 (1980).

11<sup>:</sup>0

- 9. Yamanaka, Y. and Wilke, C.R., Ph.D thesis, "The Effect of B-glucosidase on the Enzymatic Hydrolysis of Cellulose." University of California, Berkeley, UCLBL-4413 (1975).
- 10. Sciamanna, A.F., University of California, Berkeley, Department of Chemical Engineering. Personal communication.

## 6. Process Design and Evaluation

This chapter presents a summary of operating conditions, equipment specifications and other assumptions made to enable preliminary design of an enzymatic hydrolysis processing scheme. The purpose of this design is to specify processing variables with sufficient accuracy to enable comparative evaluation of the cost of producing glucose under various conditions. The design presented should be regarded as tentative and its use for definitive cost estimation is not recommended.

## 6.1. Basic Design and Alternatives

## 6.1.1. General Basis

The following is a summary of assumptions and design conventions applying to all processing schemes and conditions evaluated:

- Daily production is 214 tons per day of glucose to enable coupling with a 10<sup>7</sup> gallon per year ethanol production facility.
- Product concentration is 10%, the glucose concentration required in conventional ethanol fermentation processes.
- 3. Solids are burned for power generation.

4. No design or evaluation of byproduct processing is included.

5. No design or evaluation of waste treatment is included.

6. No storage for corn stover is provided.

#### 6.1.2. Base case process

A block flow diagram of the processing scheme used as a basis is presented in Figure 6-1. The process is similar to a design by Yang (1) presented in Chapter 3. Product stream recycle was eliminated from the process as Lindsey (2) showed that recycle did not reduce processing cost. Enzyme production is conducted batchwise since at the time of this evaluation, data on continuous growth of <u>T</u>. reesei Rut-C-30 is scarce.

#### 6.1.3. Processing Alternatives

As alternatives to the design presented in section 6.1.2 the following processing methods were evaluated:

- Ultrafiltration was employed as an alternative to equilibrium contacting for enzyme recovery.
- Continuous schemes, with and without cell recycle, for
   <u>T. reesei</u> Rut-C-30 fermentation were designed as alternatives to batch fermentation.
- 3. Steam explosion was considered as a method of pretreatment and hydrolysis results employing steam exploded



Figure 6-1: ENZYMATIC HYDROLYSIS PROCESS : BLOCK FLOW DIAGRAM

XBL808-570IA

materials were considered.

## 6.2. Equipment Sizing Criteria

The following is a summary of methods used in sizing process equipment. All equipment was sized using approximate methods which do not consider mechanical detail. This section covers the design of equipment by type. Details of how each type of equipment is specified in each processing step are provided in section 6.3 and in Appendix C where a listing of the design algorithm and documentation is provided. All equipment is sized as large as possible without exceeding the maximum size at which the piece of equipment would be commercially available. When maximum equipment sizes are reached, equal size multiples are specified.

## 6.2.1. Size Reduction

Pulverizers were sized based on the mass flowrate of corn stover passing through the process each hour:

#### MILLNO = MILLRATE/MILLMAX

The number of mills is equal to the mass flowrate lb/hr divided by the maximum mill capacity lb/hr. The maximum mill rate is 20,000 lb/hr; larger pulverizers may be manufactured but data are not available.

Motor size is estimated in horse power at 0.01 horse power per mass flowrate of capacity (3):

#### $MILLHP = MILLRT \times 0.01$

Milled product is recovered in a cyclone separator sized based on the volumetric flowrate of material through the mill. A density of 25 lb/ft<sup>3</sup> of corn stover is assumed, product stream is assumed to be 25% by volume corn stover.

<u>6.2.2. Mixing</u>

Agitators were assumed to be electrically driven pitched blade turbines with two impellers and standard geometry. Agitators were sized by a procedure presented by Gates, <u>et al</u>. (4) using solid suspension as a criterion. Assuming equal height and diameter, the diameter of the vessel housing the agitator is computed:

$$V = \pi/4 (T^{2}) (Z) = (\pi/4) T^{3}$$
$$T = (\frac{4V}{\pi})^{1/3}$$

where Z is the vessel height (ft), T is the vessel diameter (ft), and V is the vessel volume, ft<sup>3</sup>. Assuming an impeller to diameter ratio of 0.3, and a scale of agitation of 7 (see Gates, <u>et al.</u>), the value of the dimensionless parameter  $\phi$ is found using the graph in Figure 6-3.

The shaft speed N (RPM) is found as follows:

$$\phi = N^{3.75} D^{2.81} / ud$$

$$N = \left(\frac{\phi ud}{D^{2.81}}\right)^{1/3.75}$$



XBL 818-6430

Particle size determines terminal settling velocity of solids in low-viscosity liquid.

Agitators capable of scale level 6 will provide concentration uniformity of solids to 95% of the fluid-batch height and be suitable for slurry drawoff up to 80% of fluid-batch height.

Figure 6.3. Agitator Sizing Specifications.

where D is the impeller diameter (ft), and ud is the solid settling velocity (ft/min) estimated from the solids particle size using the graph in Figure 6-3 (lower).

The agitator horse power is estimated as follows:

$$D = \left\{ \begin{array}{c} 394 & \frac{Hp}{\eta N^{3}(Sg)} \\ Hp &= \frac{D^{5}\eta N^{3}(Sg)_{SL}}{394} \end{array} \right\}^{0.2}$$

where Hp is the agitator horse power, D is the impeller diameter (ft),  $\eta$  = the number of impellers, N is the RPM, Sg is the specific gravity of the slurry (SL).

For mixing nutrients and soluble raw materials agitators were not sized. The size of the mixing tank required was determined and cost correlations for mixing tanks including agitation were used (5).

#### 6.2.3. Heat Transfer

Heat exchangers are assumed to be floating head, shell and tube heat exchangers with 3/4 inch O.D. X l inch square pitch and 16 foot bundle length rated to 150 psi (6). Heat transfer areas were calculated using the equation:

 $Q = UA \triangle tm$  $A = Q/U \triangle tm$ 

where Q is the heat load (BTU/hr),  $\triangle$  tm is the log mean temperature difference and U is the overall heat transfer coef-

ficient (BTU/hr ft<sup>2 o</sup>F). Typical heat transfer coefficients were obtained from Perry, <u>et al</u>. (7). Table 6-1 presents a summary of these coefficients.

Evaporators are specified as short tube vertical, rated for a maximum pressure of 30 psi. Using typical heat transfer coefficient data for water in short tube evaporators from Perry, <u>et al</u>. (8), an average heat transfer coefficient of 505 BTU/ft<sup>2</sup>  $^{\circ}$ F is estimated for a 5 effect evaporator operating with a 20  $^{\circ}$ F temperature difference in each stage. This temperature difference, average U, and useful heat transfer area of 80%, leads to an evaporation rate per square foot of transfer area of 8 lb/ft<sup>2</sup>hr, a value reported as typical for sugar concentration (9). In sizing evaporators, boiling point rise due to glucose is neglected. This is reasonable as long as sugar is concentrated to 10% by weight or less.

For the purpose of estimating the cost of evaporation the total area required is calculated:

AREAT =WEVAP \* 
$$\frac{1}{81b/hr-ft^2}$$
 \*  $\frac{1}{(0.8)}$ 

where AREAT is the total evaporator area (ft<sup>2</sup>), WEVAP is the water evaporated each hour (lb/hr). The cost of evaporation is estimated by specifying 5 evaporators of area equal to one fifth of the total. This method provides an estimate of overall evaporation required. Actual design of an evaporation system would not normally specify equal areas and

TABLE 6-1	Typical Heat Transfer	<u>Coefficients</u>
Shell Side	Tube Side	Design U
water	water	200- 250
jacket water	water	230- 300
steam	water	400-1000
demineralized water	water	300- 500

After Perry, R.H., et al.(7)

perature difference.

Steam consumption is estimated as the ideal requirement:

Steam = water evaporated / effects

where both steam and water evaporated are given in lb/hr and effects is set to 5. Data available for sugar concentration show this estimate to be within 15% of observed heat loads.

Heat transfer surfaces related to maintaining a fixed temperature within a reactor were not calculated. It is assumed that reactors equipped with coils or jackets have sufficient heat transfer surface.

6.2.4. Vessels

Reactor vessels were sized in gallons and were assumed to have a working volume of 80% of nameplate capacity. Continuous reactors are sized as:

VOLUME = VOLUME RATE \* RESIDENCE TIME /(0.8)

where VOLUME is in gallons, VOLUME RATE is in lb/hr and RESIDENCE TIME is in hours. To calculate volume flowrates from mass flowrates, density equal to water is assumed. Batch tanks are sized based on a cycle time which includes cleaning and discharge rather than residence time.

Storage tanks are sized to provide two weeks of storage for raw materials. Tanks are sized as follows:

#### VOLUME = MASS RATE \* DAYS \* 1/p

where VOLUME is in gallons, MASS RATE in lb/day, and p in lb/gallon. The bulk density of inorganic salts was assumed to be 125 lb/ft<sup>3</sup>, sulfuric acid density lll lb/ft<sup>3</sup>, and delignified cellulose density 50 lb/ft<sup>3</sup> (10).

## 6.2.5. Materials Transfer

Solids are fed to process equipment using screw conveyors measuring 12 inches in diameter by 20 feet in length. This provides an equivalent conveying capacity of 50 tons/hr of grain (11) per conveyor and is sufficient for the range of flowrates considered.

Pumps are specified as all purpose, single or dual stage and sized on the basis of gallon per minute flowrate. A pumping head of 50 feet of water is employed for estimating the horsepower of the pumps. Horse power requirements are estimated using data from Peters and Timmerhaus (12). All pumps are specified in duplicate.

## 6.2.6. Separation

Rotary vacuum filters are employed for continuous filtration of solids. Filter area is specified using the following equation:

where FILTER RATE is the filtration rate in gallons/ft<sup>2</sup> hr, FLOWRATE is the liquid stream volumetric flowrate gallons/hr, and AREA is in square feet. Filtration rate for 5% corn stover suspensions were estimated by Yang (1) at 166 gal/ft<sup>2</sup>hr. Flowrates for other corn stover concentrations were estimated with the data presented in Chapter 5. Fermentation broths were filtered at 200 gallons/ft<sup>2</sup>hr (1).

Centrifuges were assumed to be solid bowl continuous. An estimate of the horse power requirement was obtained using a relation obtained from typical filtration power requirements:

chp = 0.080869 \* (GPM) \*\* 1.17658

where chp is the horse power, GPM is the volumetric flowrate of centrate (14).

Ultra Filtration membranes are sized based on pilot plant filtration data for ultrafiltration of cottage cheese whey obtained by Romicon, Inc. (17):

 $F = -4.889 \ln C + 29.74$ 

where F is the membrane flux in gallons per  $ft^2$  per day, C is the percent protein concentration.

Average flux is calculated as (18):

FLUXAVE = FLUX2 + (FLUX1 - FLUX2) 0.667

where FLUX2 is the flux at the concentrated end and FLUX1 is the flux at the dilute end of the membrane. Continuous flux using three stages was measured by Romicon as (18):

$$FCONT = 0.87 * FAVE$$

where FCONT is the continuous flux and FAVE is the average flux. Power consumption for the untrafiltration system is assumed to be 0.02 Kw per ft<sup>2</sup> of membrane (19).

## 6.2.7. Miscellaneous

Air to fermentors is supplied by two stage air cooled reciprocating compressors rated for 100 psi discharge (15). Compressors are sized based on rated capacity in ft<sup>3</sup>/minute. Size requirements are estimated from the V.V.M. (volume per volume per minute) requirements established for this fermentation by Tangnu (16).

The solids sterilizer is assumed to be a 9 foot by 160 foot modified rotary kiln specified by Yang (20) for previous process evaluation. This size sterilizer was maintained constant for all evaluations performed.

#### 6.3. Process Components, Description and Assumptions

#### 6.3.1. Milling

Incoming corn stover is milled in pulverizers to provide 2 mm. particle size material to the process. Pulverizers typically perform at this particle size specification or smaller particle size, depending on the hardness of the material milled (21). Preliminary milling of corn stover is assumed to take place at its point of collection and stover fed to the mill is assumed to range between 1 and 0.25 inches. Any costs associated with this milling are assumed to be part of the substrate cost. Savings may result from specifying crushers instead of pulverizers as size reduction equipment. However, product particle sizes from two stage crushers are usually larger than those required in this application (22).

#### 6.3.2. Pretreatment

#### Dilute Acid:

Figure 6-2 presents a flow diagram of the dilute acid pretreatment process design. Milled corn stover is fed to a continuous stirred tank reactors with a screw conveyor. Flowrate through the vessels maintains a total residence time of 5.5 hours. The reactor is assumed to be constructed of 304 s.s., to be jacketed and agitated and to have a maximum size of 200,000 gallons. Vapors generated during operation are recycled using a reflux condenser. Agitation is designed to suspend solids with a Chemineer (4) scale of agitation of 7.

The solid suspension leaving the reactor vessels is filtered in a rotary vacuum filter and washed with water at 45°C. Fifty percent (50%) of the liquid stream is recycled





XBL818-6429

to the reaction vessels. The remainder is passed through a heat exchanger to preheat the processes makeup acid stream. Sulfuric acid is mixed with water, preheated with the product stream and brought up to 100°C prior to entering the reaction vessel.

The following assumptions are included in the design:

- 1. Equipment is constructed of 304 s.s.
- 2. No loss of conversion is assumed when acid is recycled.
- 3. For the purpose of sizing reactors, residence time used during batch operation is used. Reactors are operated at 80% of capacity.
- Displacement washing of solids takes place during filtration.
- Heat of mixing of the sulfuric acid and water is small and is neglected.
- 6. No costs or credits are associated with the xylose stream produced.
- Solids composition upon pretreatment is as discussed in Chapter 3.

Steam Explosion:

Preliminary design of a steam explosion pretreatment facility was not conducted as operating conditions were not

#### Chapter 6

known with sufficient certainty to enable estimating steam consumption and equipment sizes. For the purpose of evaluation, a fixed pretreatment cost per ton of corn stover was employed. This method places a limitation on evaluation as overall steam requirements and thus the cost of generating steam cannot be estimated. Using a fixed pretreatment cost also prevents evaluation of scale-cost relationships.

#### 6.3.3. Hydrolysis

Figure 6-3 presents a flow diagram of the hydrolysis reaction process design. Incoming solids are fed to one of three initial reaction feed stages in series in a manner to the sequential solids addition technique analogous described in Chapter 4. Following the feed section, the solid suspension enters a series of 3 reaction stages. Temperature is assumed to be 45°C, pH is 5.0. Residence time requirements for stirred tanks in series were determined graphically by plotting reaction rate versus cellulose concentration and obtaining the number of stages required to reach a desired batch conversion. Figure 6-4 presents an example of this technique. Reaction rates after 8 hours are nearly constant and no advantage is obtained when more reaction stages are included.

Reactors are constructed of carbon steel rated for atmospheric use, are agitated, unheated and have a maximum size of 100,000 gallons. Stages requiring more than 100,000 gallons of capacity use tanks of equal size in parallel.



XBL818-6431

. t

Figure 6.3. Hydrolysis Flow Diagram.



## XBL818-6432

r is the reaction rate = g/l hr. c is the corn stover concentration: g/l $T_R$  is the residence time, hr.

Figure 6.4 Graphical Construction for CSTR in Series<sup>1</sup>. <sup>1</sup>After Butt (22) Eighty\_percent\_(80%)\_of\_rated\_capacity\_is\_used\_as\_workingvolume.

Agitators are sized using a Chemineer (4) procedure for agitating solid suspensions assuming a scale of agitation of 7. Early feed stages where viscosity is high will behave as a viscous fluid rather than a solids suspension. This is neglected.

Suspensions leaving the hydrolysis vessel are filtered and washed in rotary drum filters. Solids are sent to a furnace for steam and electricity generation. The product stream is sent to the enzyme recovery stage.

The following processing assumptions are inherent in the design:

- Sugars entering with solids do not inhibit initial reaction rates.
- Recovered enzymes are not denatured to any extent. Enzyme components are not present in limiting amounts as a result of recovery.
- Ninety-nine percent (99%) of sugars in the product stream are recovered.
- 4. No growth inhibitors or buffers are added to the reactors, and hydrolysis remains uncontaminated.

5. Channeling, bypassing or other short circuiting of flows is ignored in sizing reactors.

## 6.3.4. Enzyme Recovery

#### Equilibrium Contacting:

Figure 6-5 presents a schematic of an equilibrium contacting enzyme recovery process. Solids from pretreatment and hydrolysis product stream are countercurrently contacted in two stages consisting of a mixing tank and a rotary vacuum filter. Each stage provides 1/2 hour of residence time. Tanks are carbon steel mixing tanks rated for atmospheric pressure. Agitators are sized based on 10% solids suspensions. All equipment is of carbon steel construction.

The following processing assumptions apply:

- 1. No reaction takes place during equilibrium contacting.
- 2. Ninety-eight percent (98%) of enzymes are assumed recovered (33) provided an adsorption isotherm limit is not reached. If enzyme is present in excess of the maximum capable of being adsorbed by the solids, the excess is lost.
- 3. If solids suspension is greater than 10%, the solid is divided into two streams and enzyme stream is contacted with each solid stream in series.


133

ж. Ж

1. t

4.

Water leaving the process with solids contains an equilibrium amount of sugars.

Ultrafiltration:

Preliminary evaluation of ultrafiltration as a means of recovering protein was conducted using pilot plant flux versus concentration data for ultrafiltration of cottage cheese whey obtained by Romicon, Inc. (17). (Figure 6-6) Three ultrafiltration stages are assumed to achieve 87% of the average batch ultrafiltration flux (18). Cheese whey has a molecular weight of 30,000, therefore the XM50 membrane used in cottage cheese protein ultrafiltration would retain over 85% of all protein.

The following processing assumptions apply:

- No protein denaturation as a result of operating the ultrafiltration system occurs.
- Ninety percent (90%) of all activity is recycled to the hydrolysis reactor.
- Recycled enzyme is not deficient in any component as a result of enzyme recovery.
- No product inhibition occurs as a result of recycling part of the glucose stream.

5. Membranes are on stream 66% of the time.



Figure 6-6. Ultrafiltration of Cottage Cheese Whey Flux Vs. Protein Concentration. After Breslau, et al. (18).

135

. . . . .

- **\$**1

# 6.3.5. Enzyme Production

#### Batch:

Figure 6-7 presents a schematic diagram of a batch cellulase production process. The medium described in Chapter 3 is mixed and sterilized continuously prior to entering a batch fermentor. Solids are assumed sterilized in a rotary kiln, not designed. Inoculum is provided from a series of fermentors each having a working volume equal to 10% of the working volume of the next largest. The largest inoculum fermentor has 10% of the volume required for a fermentor.

Fermentors are assumed constructed of 304 s.s., rated for 2.5 atmospheres pressure to enable steam sterilization, have a maximum volume of 100,000 gallons, have coils, and are agitated. Fermentation cycle time is 156 hours, 144 hours for fermentation and 12 hours for charging, discharging and sterilization. Air is fed at a rate of 0.2 vvm. Agitation is provided to suspend the mycelia and 5% cellulose. Fermentation temperature is maintained at 25°C, pH is held constant at 5 pH units.

Fermentation broths are filtered in a rotary vacuum filter. The mycelia is burned and the cellulase broth is stored in a surge vessel providing cellulase continuously to the process. Filtration rates used are those estimated by Yang (1).

The following processing assumptions apply.





- Cellulase is produced at an activity of 12 IU/ml consistently.
- 2. Unspecified inexpensive delignified cellulose and nitrogen sources are substituted for Solka Floc and protease peptone at the same ratios as were used in the laboratory work. Raw material costs are shown in Table 6-8.
- No oxygen transport limitation is present in the fermentor.

#### Continuous Fermentation:

Process design for continuous fermentation is similar to the batch flowsheet shown in Figure 6-7 except support equipment such as feed sterilization and harvesting equipment may operate continuously and is smaller. Fermentation takes place in two stages having a dilution rate of 0.02 and  $0.04 \text{ hr}^{-1}$  respectively and produces cellulase of activity 3.5 IU/ml (16). Other fermentation conditions are similar to the batch process and medium used is that reported for continuous cellulase production in Chapter 3.

Continuous Fermentation with Cell Recycle:

Continuous cellulase production using recycled mycelia of <u>T. reesei</u> Rut-C-30 has not been investigated. A preliminary evaluation of potential savings resulting when processing with cell recycle was conducted by analogy using data on cell recycle with <u>T</u>. <u>reesei</u> QM9414 (24). Table 6-2 presents a summary of this estimate.

This processing scheme is similar to the continuous process described earlier, except a centrifuge is added to separate cell mass and cellulose from the fermentor broth.

The following assumptions apply to conducting this design:

- Sixty-six percent (66%) of mycelia leaving the enzyme production reactors are recycled.
- Recycled cells are viable and have a productivity of
   70% of the productivity of non recycled cells.
- 3. Cell recycle produces cellulase at 5.5 IU/ml with the same component makeup as non-recycle schemes.
- Cellulose is recycled along with mycelia resulting in a 30% reduction of substrate cost.

### 6.3.6. Evaporation

The product stream is concentrated to provide a 10% glucose solution using a 5 effect evaporator. The evaporators are assumed to be short tube vertical constructed of stainless steel, the type used in the sugar industry for concentrating molasses (9). For the purpose of preliminary evaluation, the following assumptions apply:

# TABLE 6-2 Estimate of Cellulase Productivity Using Cell Recycle

From Yang, et al.(24) QM9414 Data:

	Dilution Rate	S	Productivity	X	Specific Productivity
	$(hr^{-1})$	(g/L)	(IU/ml-Day)	<u>(g/L)</u>	(IU/ml-Day)
	0.02	7.5	0.142	2.3	0.084
cell recycle:	0.02	7.5	0.30	6.9	0.043
recycle f	raction:	1- ø	$=\frac{2.3}{6.9}$ , $\phi = 0$	0.67	
productiv recycled	ity of cells:	γ <sub>F</sub> x <sub>F</sub> +	$\gamma_{R} x_{R} = \overline{\gamma} \overline{x}$		
		0.084 *	$2.3 + \gamma_{R} * 4$	6 = 0.04	3 * 6.9

 $\gamma_{\rm R}$  = 0.0225 or 73% of original

From Tangnu, et al.(16) Rut-C-30 Data:

Productivity: 0.0144 IU/mg hr, X=5 g/L Dilution Rate: 0.02 hr<sup>-1</sup> IU/ml with cell recycle: (0.0144 IU/mg hr) \*

> $[5 g/L + 0.73) * 10 g/L] * \frac{1}{(0.02 hr^{-1})}$ = 5.3 IU/ml

1. Boiling point elevation due to sugars is neglected.

- 2. Steam requirement is ideally calculated by dividing the total steam load by the number of effects.
- For the range of operation, 8 pounds of water are evaporated per hour per square foot of surface area.

## 6.3.7. Storage

Storage is provided to maintain a two week inventory of fermentation nutrients and sulfuric acid. Storage vessels are assumed constructed of carbon steel. No storage capability is provided for corn stover.

# 6.4. Process Evaluation

6.4.1. Capital Cost

Capital Equipment costs for each processing step are estimated using equipment cost data presented in Table 6-3. Equipment cost formulas take the general form:

COST = MSI \* A \* (SIZE \* B) \*\* C

where A, B, C are constants and MSI is the Marshall and Swift Index. This evaluation employed an MSI Index of 707 corresponding to March of 1981.

Direct fixed capital is estimated using multipliers outlined by Peters and Timmerhaus (25). A summary of multipliers used for each processing section are listed in Table

# Table 6-3 Equipment Cost Summary

Item	Size	Maximum Size	A	B	С	Reference
pulverizer	/lb/hr	20,000	0.72	1.	0.4102	(3)
cyclone	ft <sup>3</sup> /hr	100,000	0.05	1.	0.5128	(26)
screw conveyor			11.42*MSI			(11)
Agitator s.s.	HP	400	364.75	0.00995	0.75	(27)
Agitator c.s	HP	400	215.20	0.00995	0.75	(27)
Mixing tank with agitator	gal	200,000	0.8960	1.	0.5314	(28)
Storage tank	gal	200,000	0.1807	1.	0.505	(28)
30¢ s.s. atmospheric tank	gal	200,000	236.22	50,000	0.6	(28)

<u>cost equation</u> Cost = MSI \* A \* (Size \* B) \*\* C

# Table 6-3 Equipment Cost Summary

# cost equation Cost = MSI \* A \* (Size \* B) \*\* C

					and the second se	and the second
Item	Size	Maximum size	Α	В	C	Reference
304 s.s. fermentor	gal	100,000	314.96	50,000	0.6	(27)
Carbon steel atmospheric tank	gal	200,000	0.1295	1.	0.5664	
Shell & tube exchangers carbon steel	ft <sup>2</sup>	10,000	0.4991	1.	0.5754	(6)
Shell & tube exchanger s.s. tubes	ft <sup>2</sup>	10,000	0.7986	1.	0.5740	(6)
Short tube vertical evaporator	ft <sup>2</sup>	10,000	6.24	1.	0.520	(8)
Centrifugal compressor	ft <sup>3</sup> /min	10,000	0.5166	1.	0.669	(31)

143

. 1

Table 6-3 Equipment Cost Summary

Item	Size	Maximum Size	A	В	С	Reference
Solid bowl centrifuge	HP	< 75	6.92	1.	0.7125	(14)
Solid bowl centrifuge	НР	> 75	2.68	1.	0.923	(32)
Rotary vacuum filter	ft <sup>2</sup>	1000.	9.61	1.	0.5012	(32)
Centrifugal pump s.s.	GPM	4000 •	0.44	50.	0.3368	(12)
Centrifugal pump c.s.	GPM	4000 •	0.27	50.	0.3368	(12)
Electrical Motor	HP	200	0.05	1.	0.5128	(33)
Rotary kiln	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		72.39*MSI			(20)

cost equation Cost = MSI \* A \* (Size \* B) \*\* C

6-4. Factors were chosen to reflect the relative complexity of the various processing steps under consideration. The factor for evaporation is lower because the estimated evaporation cost included installation. The factors computed correspond approximately to typical values for fluid-solid processing facilities. Using these factors, direct fixed capital investment is calculated as follows:

DFC = FACTOR \*  $\Sigma$  EQUIPMENT COST

The contribution of capital equipment to the cost of manufacturing is computed using the capital related factor presented in Table 6-5. Straight line depreciation is assumed. Taxes are not included as the plant being evaluated is assumed to be tax exempt. Capital related costs per year are calculated as follows:

#### COST PER ANNUM = FACTOR x DFC

Ultrafiltration cost estimation is carried out using a direct operating capital cost of \$80 per square foot of installed membrane capacity (37). This estimate includes all typical charges associated with capital installation and does not require the use of a multiplier. A membrane replacement cost of \$20 per square foot is assumed required every two years (37).

#### 6.4.2. Labor

Labor charges are computed using a labor factor multi-

Item	Typical Range	Store	Mil1	Acid Pretreat	Section Equilibrium Enz. Rec.	Hydrolysis	Enz. Prod.	Evaporation
Equipment	1.	1.	1.	1.	1.	1.	1.	1.
Installation	0.3947	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4
Piping	0.1545	0.15	0.15	0.45	0.45	0.25	0.45	0.1
Instruments	0.0515	0.05	0.05	0.15	0.05	0.05	0.15	0.10
Insulation	0.0511	0	0	0.10	0.10	0.10	0.05	0.10
Electrical	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1
Buildings	0.0545	0	0.05	0.05	0.05	0.05	0.05	0.05
Land & Yard	0.1518	0.15	0.15	0.15	0.15	0.15	0.15	0.15
Auxiliary	0.4-1.4	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4	
SUBTOTAL		2.25	2.3	2.8	2.7	2.5	2.85	2.1
						* e .	н 1	
Engineering	v1 25-1 A	¥1 25	· · ·			· •		
Foor	v1 05_1 00	×1.05						•
Contingency	x1.05-1.00	x1.05			• •			
concrugency	A1:07 1.2			—		······································		
TOTAL		3.3	3.4	4.0	3,9	3.6	4.0	3.0

# TABLE 6-4 Cost Multipliers

From Peters and Timmerhaus (25) and Valle Riestra (35).

# TABLE 6-5 Capital Related Factors

(Cost per Annum = Factor x Fixed Capital)

Item		Factor
Depreciation		0.1
Interest		0.06
Maintenance	· · ·	0.06
Insurance		0.01
Plant Supplies		0.01
Taxes		0.0

Valle Riestra, J.F. (35)

plied by the number of operators required and by labor costs. The number of operators required for each operation are listed in Table 6-6 (35). Table 6-7 presents a summary of the labor related cost factor. Base labor rate is \$22,000 per year per operator. Four shifts per day are assumed.

# 6.4.3. Raw Materials

Table 6-8 presents a summary of raw materials costs. Medium concentration and sulfuric acid used are as specified in Chapter 4. Carbon source for fermentation is defined as delignified cellulose. Fermentation work has used ball milled Solka Floc as carbon source, a raw material too expensive for industrial use. It is assumed that some form of pretreatment may be developed to enable use of agricultural waste as fermentation carbon source. Corn steep liquor is used instead of proteose peptone used in laboratory experiments, as the cost of peptone is too high for industrial use. Corn steep liquor is assumed to replace peptone at the same concentration. However, preliminary work indicates that more corn steep liquor will be required (39). Use of raw materials is based on 330 Day/Year.

Steam explosion is assumed to cost \$7.5 per ton of biomass processed (40). This cost is accounted for as a raw materials cost as no design is provided for this processing step. Corn stover is not accounted for as a raw material; its cost is treated as an independent variable. Current

• •	TABLE 6-6	<u>Labor</u>	Requ	uiremer	its
Operation				<u>Labor</u>	(Operators/Shift)
Hydrolysis					2
Pretreatment					2
Enzyme Recovery	ł				1
Enzyme Product Batch	ion		. •		6
- Continuous					2
Milling					1.
Evaporation					1
Storage					0

Shifts per day = 4

TABLE 6-7 Labor Factor

Item		<u>Cost</u> <u>Factor</u>
Operating Labor		1.0
Fringe Benefits		0.22
Supervisor, Clerical		0.18
Operating Supplies		0.10
Laboratory	·	0.15
	TOTAL	1.651
Base Labor Rate: \$22,000 <sup>1</sup> pe	er person year.	

1. Valle Riestra (35)

TABLE 6-8	Raw Materials Costs	•
Material	Cost (\$/ton)	Reference
Sulfuric Acid	58.	(37)
Ammonium Sulfate	65.	(37)
Potassium Phosphate	180.	(37)
Magnesium Phosphate	230.	(37)
Calcium Chloride	90.	(37)
Corn Steep Liquor	400.	(38)
Delignified Cellulose	100.	(1)

.

#### Chapter 6

estimates of agricultural waste substrate costs range at \$0-50 per ton.

## 6.4.4. Utilities

Utilities for all operating steps were accounted for individually and include steam, water and electricity consumption. Electricity assumed bought from a utility company is charged at 4.4 cents per Kw hour (13). If surplus steam is generated, it is converted to electricity at a cost of 1.6 cents per Kw hour (14). Process and cooling water is charged at 33 cents per 1000 gallons (13). Water removed from the product stream is recycled for a credit of the same value.

Steam is assumed generated from corn stover at the heating value of lignin: 12,700 BTU/lb (29). Solids leaving hydrolysis contain 2.33 pounds of water per pound of corn After removing the heat required to vaporize this stover. water a net 5000 BTU/1b of corn stover burned remains. The cost of boilers capable of burning corn stover is given in Table 6-9 (30). If additional steam is required to run the process, it is assumed supplied by coal costing \$34 per ton The cost of coal fired boilers is given in Table 6-9 (13). A higher boiler cost results in using coal instead of (30). corn stover due to emissions control equipment required when burning coal.



Corn Stover Boilers:

 $\frac{\text{Range}}{(1\times10^{6} \text{ lb/day} \text{ Cost})^{5}} = MSI * 836.7 / \text{lb/day}}_{\text{steam}}$   $\approx 1\times10^{6} \text{ (1000 lb} \text{ steam})^{5} \text{ (1000 lb} \text{ steam})^{5} \text{ (1000 lb} \text{ steam})^{5} \text{ (1000 lb} \text{ steam})^{6}$   $\approx 1\times10^{6} \text{ (1000 lb} \text{ (1000 lb} \text{ steam})^{6} \text{ (1000 lb} \text{ steam})^{6} \text{ (1000 lb} \text{ steam})^{6} \text{ (1000 lb} \text{ steam})^{6}$ 

Coal Boilers:

 $(1x10^{6}; 1b/day)$  Cost = MSI \* 1246 / 1b/day
>1x10^{6}; <8x10^{6} Cost = MSI \* 12.23 [(1b/day)/1000].<sup>71</sup> / (1b/day)

່ຫ ພ

#### References: Chapter 6

- Yang, R.D., Sciamanna, R.F., Freitas, R.P. and Wilke,
   C.R., Biotech. & Bioeng. 23, 163, (1981).
- Lindsey, R.R. and Wilke, C.R., M.S. Thesis, "Process Design and Optimization of Cellulose Hydrolysis", University of California, Berkeley, UCLBL-7864, (1978).
- 3. Peters, M.S. and Timmerhaus, K.D., <u>Plant Design</u> and <u>Economics for Chemical Engineers</u>, Third Edition, McGraw Hill. p 597.
- Gates, L.E., Morton, J.R. and Fonds, P.L., "Selecting Agitator Systems to Suspend Solids in Liquids", <u>Chemi-</u> cal Engineering, May 24, 1976, p. 144.
- 5. Peters and Timmerhaus, p. 572.
- 6. Ibid., p. 669.
- 7. Perry, R.H. and Chilton, C.H. (eds.) <u>Chemical Engineers</u> Handbook, Fifth Edition, McGraw Hill, pp. 10.39-42.
- 8. Ibid., p. 10.34.
- Spencer, and Meade, <u>Cane Sugar Handbook</u>, Fifth edition, pp. 134-169.

- 10. Perry and Chilton, pp. 3-90.
- 11. Peters and Timmerhaus, p. 601.
- 12. Ibid., p. 556.
- 13. Ibid., p. 881.
- 14. Maiorella, B.L., Ph.D thesis in preparation.
- 15. Peters and Timmerhaus, pp. 559-562.
- 16. Tangnu, S.K., Blanch, H.W. and Wilke, C.R., <u>Biotech</u>. Bioeng., <u>23</u>, (8) 1837 (1981).
- 17. Breslau, B.R., Kilcullen, B.M., and Cross, R.A. "Hollow Fiber Ultrafiltration of Cottage Cheese Whey, A Performance Study", Romicon, Inc., (1975).
- 18. Breslau, B.R. and Kilcullen, B.M. "Continuous Ultrafiltration", Romicon, Inc., (1976).
- 19. Beaton, N.C. <u>I. Chem. E. Symp. Series</u> <u>51</u>, pp. 59-70, (1976).
- 20. Yang, R.D., Von Stockar, U. and Wilke, C.R., "Preliminary Cost Analysis for Enzymatic Hydrolysis of Newsprint", University of California, Berkeley, UCLBL-4408 (1975).
- 21. Perry and Chilton, pp. 8-17,21.

- 22. Butt, J.B., <u>Reaction Kinetics</u> and <u>Reactor Design</u>, Northwestern University, (1976).
- 23. Yamanaka, Y. and Wilke, C.R., Ph.D thesis, "The Effect of B-glucosidase on the Enzymatic Hydrolysis of Cellulose", University of California, Berkeley, UCLBL-4413 (1975), p. 227.
- 24. Yang, R.D., Von Stockar, U. and Wilke, C.R., <u>AIChE</u> Symp. <u>Series</u>, 72(158):104-114, (1976).
- 25. Peters and Timmerhaus, p. 180.
- 26. Ibid., p. 599.
- 27. Peppler, H.J. and Perlman, D. (eds.), <u>Microbial Tech-</u> nology, Second edition, V. 2, (1979).
- 28. Peters and Timmerhaus, pp. 572-573.
- 29. Antonopolis, R., M.S. thesis. University of California, Berkeley (1981).
- 30. Murphy, T.K., University of California, Berkeley. Personal communication.
- 31. Peters and Timmerhaus, pp. 559-562.
- 32. Ibid., pp. 587-589.
- 33. Ibid., p. 566.

- 34. Ibid., pp. 180-181.
- 35. Valle Riestra, F., Dow Chemicals, Inc. Personal communication.
- 36. VickRoy, B., Ph.D thesis in preparation. University of California, Berkeley.
- 37. Chemical Markets Reporter, 5 May, 1980.
- 38. Sciamanna, A.F. University of California, Berkeley. Personal communication.
- 39. Hendy, N., University of California, Berkeley. Personal communication.
- 40. Noble, G., Iotech Corporation, Ottowa, Ontario, Canada. Personal communication.

# 7. Computer Simulation and Evaluation

This chapter presents a summary of the algorithm used to evaluate the cost of producing glucose under the various operating conditions presented in Chapter 5. A listing of this program along with documentation providing variable definitions and input/output information is provided in Appendix C.

# 7.1. Computer Algorithm Capabilities

## 7.1.1. General Organization

Figure 7-1 presents a schematic of the computer program's organization. The program is composed of subroutines nested in three levels corresponding to their function. Level 1 subroutines serve primarily to manipulate, distribute and summarize information. Level 2 routines contain process design information necessary to specify and cost equipment and are responsible for material, energy and equipment summaries. Level 3 routines perform equipment costing and sizing calculations and other similar functions.

# 7.1.2. Required Information and Operating Options

Information required to operate the program consists of:

 Experimental data containing conversion and enzyme recovery versus time information.



LEVEL 2

Figure 7.1 Subroutine Organization

.

XBL818-6408

- 2. Composition and physical property information of substrate and reaction steps.
- Design specification, cost data and economic evaluation data.

Information which would normally be varied from run to run or which will tend to change with frequency (items 1, 2) are designed to be read to the program each time it is run. A summary of these variables is presented in Table 7-1. Iteration to evaluate cost versus residence time relies on linear approximations of conversion and enzyme recovery versus time data. This is correct if the interval over which the iteration takes place is short and if the earliest residence time considered is 8 hours, after which reaction rates are nearly constant and slow. The validity of searching for optimum sugar production conditions while excluding initial reaction periods is discussed in Chapter 8.

Information which is related to the substrate under consideration, such as composition and other information specific to the experimental data discussed in Chapter 5 are grouped in the beginning of each subroutine. This information should be examined and revised whenever evaluation of a new set of data is required.

Design related information is found whenever it is used in the design subroutines. Evaluation of a different design will require either changing all code related to the design

TABLE 7-1 Program Input Variables

Data:

Name	Meaning	Dimension
Y	Glucose conversion	Fractional
YXYL	Xylose conversion	Fractional
PGPRSU	% Glucose in reducing sugars	Fractional
FEAR	% Enzyme recovery	Fractional
TR	Residence time	hr
SCON	Initial substrate concentration	8
eHY01	Initial Enzyme strength	IU/ml
GPROD	Glucose Production Desired	ton/day
TRI	Minimum residence time	hr
TRMAX	Maximum residence time	hr
erslop	Enzyme recovery slope	
erint	Enzyme recovery intercept	
xslop	Conversion slope	
yint	Conversion intercept	

change or incorporating additional subroutines.

A summary of operating options for the computer program is presented in Table 7-2. To prevent excessive use of computer time, equipment list option is not allowed with iterative rows and request for varying both recycle fraction and residence time will default to varying only residence time. Sample outputs for each operating option are listed in Appendix D.

## 7.1.3. Information Distribution and Output

Information is passed between subroutines in level 1 and 2 by common statements. A summary of these statements is provided in Chapter 4. Information passes to and from subroutines in level 3 as arguments in a subroutine call statement. Economic summary data such as capital cost sum, utilities consumed and raw materials are stored in onedimensional arrays where each process step is assigned a fixed array position. Table 7-3 presents a summary of economic sum arrays.

Output is generated as follows:

1. Input variables are printed in the main program.

 Material, energy and equipment lists are printed in each processing step subroutine.

TABLE 7-2 Computer Program Operating Options

Name	Definition	<u>0p</u>	Option			
ezpopt	enzyme production option	0 1 2	batch continuous cell recycle continuous			
trtopt	pretreatment option	0 1	dilute acid steam explosion			
recopt	enzyme recovery option	0 1	equilibrium contacting ultrafiltration			
tropt	residence time variable	0 1	no yes			
rcopt	hydrolysis product recycle option	0 1	no yes			
eqlist	equipment list	0	no yes			
mflist	manufacturing list	0 1	no yes			
enmat	energy and material summary	0 1	no yes			

TABLE 7-3 Economic Evaluation Sum Variables

Arrays		Definition	Physical Dimension
Capcos	(7)	Capital cost sum	\$
Ue l	(7)	Electrical consumption sum	Kw hr/day
Ust	(7)	Steam consumption sum	lb/day
Uwa	(7)	Water consumption sum	gallon/day
Ucw	(7)	Cooling water consumption sum	gallon/day
Raw	(7)	Raw material cost sum	\$/year

# Array Number

1 2 3

4 5

6

7

# Processing Step

Hydrolysis Enzyme recovery Enzyme production Enzyme recovery Milling Evaporation Storage Sample output is provided in Appendix D. Documentation in Appendix C presents a list of program line locations where a given variable is used, read or printed.

# 7.1.4. Limitations

The use of an empirical fit to manipulate experimental data limits the use of this program to ranges where data exist. Currently, an integrated kinetic model based on theory which adequately describes the hydrolysis reactions under investigation is not available. The availability of model would enable evaluation of a wider range of such а conditions through extrapolation. A possible improvement in the usefulness of this program could result by coupling the differential kinetic model developed by Wald (1) to this program and employing canned subroutines to solve the dif-This approach, although effective, ferential equations. will be cumbersome and costly for evaluating large ranges of operating conditions.

The accuracy of each of the processing schemes presented relies on the amount of information available on each processing step. Comparison between operating conditions is possible as the magnitude of the error for cases using the same cost and size criteria does not change. However, comparison between processing schemes even with the same set of experimental data is subject to variations in

#### Chapter 7

uncertainty. One improvement would be to define the uncertainty of each cost data item separately and determine the error for each processing step statistically.

## 7.2. Subroutine Outlines

This section presents logic diagrams for key subroutines or type of subroutines found in the program. For a detailed treatment of subroutine composition refer to the program listing with comment documentation found in Appendix C.

### 7.2.1. Main Program Subroutine

Figure 7-2 presents a logic diagram for the program's main body. The program's main function is to check program constraints, and to increment any iterative variable. The program calls only one subroutine, Model. Model is responsible for calling the following subroutines:

1.	Matbal	(Material Balance)
2.	Hydrol	(Hydrolysis)
3.	Enzrec	(Enzyme Recovery)
4.	Pretre	(Pretreatment)
5.	Enzprod	(Enzyme Production)
6.	Mill	(Milling)
7.	Store	(Storage)
8.	Evap	(Evaporation)
9.	Econ	(Economics)

## 7.3. Material Balance

A material balance subroutine is responsible for specifying all streams entering and leaving the hydrolysis processing step. The subroutine corresponds to an algebraic



Figure 7.2 Main Program Logic Diagram

solution of the material balances presented in Figure 7-3 and 7-4. Specified conversion, enzyme recovery, desired daily production, and substrate initial concentration are specified for this purpose. Solution of this material balance enables sizing enzyme recovery, hydrolysis, enzyme production, pretreatment and evaporation routines. In addition to providing an algebraic solution, this routine prints a material balance summary.

## 7.3.1. Process Selection Routines

Subroutines Enzrec, Enzprod and Pretre serve to select desired enzyme recovery, enzyme production and pretreatment subroutines. Subroutines Enzrec and Pretre merely call the appropriate subroutine without perfoming any other function. The enzyme production subroutine prevents the program from violating material balance constraints. If the material balance prescribes an enzyme concentration (IU/ml) greater than the capability of the desired enzyme production scheme this will be detected and a warning issued. Figure 7-5 presents a summary of this subroutine.

# 7.3.2. Process Operation Subroutines

Figure 7-6 presents a logic diagram for subroutine Pracid, the dilute acid pretreatment subroutine. All subroutines used to determine operation requirements of process.


#### NOMENCLATURE

S	<b>=</b> '	Corn Stover T/Day
W	=	Water T/Day
G	=	Glucose T/Day
E	=	Enzyme IU/Day
FR	=	Recycle Fraction
FFG	<b>]</b> =	Fraction of glucose lost in filter
FFE	:=	Fraction of enzyme lost in filter
Fe	=	Fraction of enzyme recovered

Figure 7.3 Hydrolysis Material Balance for Equilibrium XBL 818-6410 Contacting Enzyme Recycle.





Nomenclature:

S = Corn Stover T/Day W = Water T/Day E = Enzyme IU/Day FFe = Fraction of enzyme lost in filter FFG = Fraction of glucose lost in filter FUF = Fraction of recycle from ultrafiltration

Figure 7.4. Hydrolysis Material Balance for Ultrafiltration Enzyme Recovers.

XBL 818-6411



Figure 7.5 ENZPROD SUBROUTINE,

XBL 818-6412





XBL 818-6413

Figure 7.6 Subroutine PRACID Logic Diagram

steps are similar in logic to the dilute acid pretreatment subroutine outlined. These subroutines require a size basis which is supplied by either the main program, the material balance subroutine or another process step subroutine. Table 7-4 presents a summary of the primary size criteria used for each process subroutine. In addition to this information, a number of internal process specifications covered in Chapter 6 are required.

# 7.3.3. Support Subroutines

Support subroutines perform sizing and costing functions for equipment specified in Chapter 6. Figure 7-7 presents a logic diagram for typical costing and sizing routines. Organization of additional routines is similar, listings are provided in Appendix C. TABLE 7-4 Sizing Criteria for Process Subroutines

Subroutine	<u>Size</u> Basis	Source
Hydrolysis	Water flow (ton/day) Pretreated solids (ton/day)	Matbal Matbal
Enzyme Production	Water flow (ton/day) Enzyme required (ton/day)	Matbal Matbal
Equilibrium Contacting Recovery	Water flow (ton/day) Pretreated solids (ton/day)	Matbal Matbal
Ultrafiltratio	nWater flow (ton/day)	Matbal
Dilute Acid Pretreatment	Pretreated solids (ton/day)	Matbal
Milling	Untreated solids (ton/day)	Dilute Acid Iotech
Iotech (Steam Explosion)	Pretreated solids (ton/day)	Matbal
Evaporation	Water flow (ton/day) Glucose (ton/day)	Matbal Matbal
Storage	Material stored (ton/day)	Dilute Acid

Enzyme Production



XBL818-6414

Figure 7.7 Typical Sizing and Costing Routines.

# References: Chapter 7

 Wald, S.A., Blanch, H.W. and Wilke, C.R., M.S. thesis, "Enzymatic Hydrolysis of Rice Straw For Ethanol Production", University of California, Berkeley (1981).

### 8. Economic Evaluation, Results and Discussion

This chapter presents a summary of economic data obtained with the computer algorithm described in Chapter 7 and hydrolysis results presented in Chapter 5. Data on which these results are based may be found in Appendix D.

8.1. Glucose Production Cost, Base Case

### 8.1.1. Production Cost Excluding Corn Stover Cost

Figure 8-1 presents glucose production cost versus substrate concentration and enzyme activity for the base case Corn stover cost design presented in Chapter 6. is neglected and B-glucosidase activity is 1.1 times cellulase Optimum production conditions are 20% substrate con-FPA. centration and 3 IU/ml enzyme activity. These conditions correspond to a specific activity of 13 IU/g substrate, and not coincide with conditions for optimum conversion. do An activity of 13 IU/g corresponds to a glucose conversion of and as can be seen in Figure 5-8, is where the slope of 38% the conversion versus specific activity curve begins to decrease substantially.

Figure 8-2 presents similar data obtained with Bglucosidase activity 1.8 times the cellulase filter paper activity. A similar behavior is observed. Optimum conditions are again 20% substrate and 3 IU/ml enzyme activity, conversion is 44%. This conversion is higher due to the absence of cellobiose inhibition and results in the lowest



# XBL 818-6416

Figure 8.1

Glucose Production Cost Versus Substrate Concentration At Various Enzyme Activities.

Basis : No Corn Stover Cost Cellulase, B-g : FPA, 1.1 : 1



XBL 818-6417

Figure 8.2

Glucose Cost Versus Substrate Concentration At Various Enzyme Activities.

Basis : No Corn Stover Cost Cellulase, B-g : FPA, 1.1 : 1 glucose cost observed, 12.5 cents per pound.

# 8.1.2. Production Cost Including Corn Stover Cost

Figure 8-3 presents data from Figure 8-1 except corn stover utilized is assumed to cost \$30/ton. Optimum production is shifted to 15% substrate by weight and 5 IU/ml cellulase activity, corresponding to a conversion of 50%. Lowest glucose cost is 25 cents per pound, 40% of this cost is related to corn stover.

Figure 8-4 presents economic data from Figure 8-2 when corn stover is assumed to cost \$30/ton. A similar pattern is observed, optimum conditions are shifted to higher conversion and higher specific activities. Corn stover cost contribution is approximately 40% of the glucose production cost. Lowest glucose cost observed is 22 cents per pound.

# <u>8.1.3.</u> <u>Contribution of Processing Operations to the Cost of</u> Manufacturing Glucose

Table 8-1 presents the average contribution of various processing steps to the overall processing cost, excluding corn stover cost. Enzyme production contributes 40% of all manufacturing cost and is the costliest process to operate. Dilute acid pretreatment contributes 21%, hydrolysis 15%, evaporation 10% and all other steps combined, 14%. The highest manufacturing cost component is capital equipment, contributing 65% of all manufacturing expenses.



XBL 819-6418

Figure 8.3 Glucose Cost Versus Substrate Concentration At Various Enzyme Activities.

Basis : Corn Stover \$30/Ton Cellulase, B-g : FPA, 1.1 : 1



Substrate Concentration (wt. %)

XBL 818-6419

# Figure 8.4

Glucose Cost Versus Substrate Concentration At Various Enzyme Activities.

Basis : Corn Stover \$30/Ton Cellulase, B-g : FPA, 1.8 : 1

# Contribution of Processing Operation and Manufacturing Component to Glucose Cost TABLE 8-1

% of Glucose Cost 41 21

Enzyme Production	41
Pretreatment	21
Hydrolysis	15
Evaporation	13
Other	10
	100 %

Operation

Α.

в.	Manufacturing Component			8	of	Glucose	Cost
		19 - <sup>19 -</sup>		. `	<b>-</b> -		
•	- · · ·						
	Capital				·	65	
	Utilities					17	
	Raw Materials					11	
	Labor					7	

100 %

# 8.1.4. Effect of Enzyme Activity on Cost

Figure 8-5 presents manufacturing component costs enzyme activity at fixed substrate concentration. versus The dominance of enzyme production costs when corn stover cost is neglected explains the optimum manufacturing conditions observed. Under these circumstances a large increment the cost of producing enzymes is required to provide a in small savings in the cost of substrate pretreatment, and When corn stover cost is \$30/ton (40% of the evaporation. total cost) enzyme production contribution is only 25% of total cost, thus increase in yield results in a the an decrease in substrate costs as well as a decrease in pretreatment, and evaporation costs.

# 8.1.5. Effect of Substrate Concentration

Figure 8-6 presents production cost versus substrate concentration at fixed residence time and enzyme specific activity. Corn stover and pretreatment costs do not vary since conversion for all cases is constant. Enzyme production costs increase with increasing solids concentration due to the adsorption isotherm behavior described in Chapter 5. Hydrolysis and evaporation costs decrease with increasing solids concentration due to smaller reactor volume requirements and higher concentration product streams. It was not evaluate most hydrolysis cases involving 25% possible to substrate concentrations due to constraints in the volume of water allowed to enter the hydrolysis vessel from the enzyme



XBL 818-6420

Ł

.

Figure 8.5. Effect of Increasing Enzyme Activity at Fixed Substrate Concentration and Residence Time. (10% Corn Stover)



Figure 8.6 Glucose Cost Versus Substrate Concentration

production unit. If cellulase concentrations higher than 12 IU/ml can be achieved, possible cost reduction may result by operating at the optimum specific activity and 25% solids suspension.

# 8.1.6. Effect of Residence Time

Figure 8-7 presents glucose cost versus residence time fixed substrate concentration and enzyme activity. Corn at stover, enzyme production, pretreatment and evaporation costs decrease with increasing residence time due to higher conversions at higher residence time. Hydrolyzation increases with increasing residence time requirements. cost Costs were reduced when the rate of glucose conversion was 0.2% per hour or higher. Glucose conversion rates higher than this value occur for residence times between 0 and 8 hours, therefore the presence of a cost optimum in this range is not likely.

### 8.1.7. Economics of Scale, Direct Fixed Capital

Figure 8-8 presents glucose cost and direct fixed capital cost versus plant size. Glucose cost remains nearly constant until production drops to 125 tons per day. Operation at 214 tons per day appears inefficient in view of the magnitude of the direct fixed capital involved. At a daily production of 214 tons/day, direct fixed capital is 60 million dollars.





32

28

24

20

# XBL 818-6422

Glucose Cost Versus Residence Time at Figure 8.7. Fixed Substrate Concentration and Enzyme Activity. 15%, 5 IU/ml



XBL 818-6423

Figure 8.8 Glucose Cost and Direct Fixed Capital Versus Plant Size.

### 8.1.8. Cost of Ethanol Production

For corn stover cost ranging from 0-30 dollars per ton, the lowest glucose cost observed is 12-22 cents per pound. Employing current ethanol production technology (1) the cost of manufacturing ethanol from glucose produced by this process is \$1.8-3.3 per gallon. At this price ethanol production from corn stover could not compete favorably.

#### 8.1.9. Comparison with QM9414

A direct economic comparison between processes using OM9414 and Rut-C-30 for cellulase production is difficult because the economic study performed with QM9414 employed a different basis and used different cellulase activity units. The best case reported for the QM9414 process used 5% substrate and approximately 0.5 IU/ml to obtain a yield of 40%. Cost reported was 10 cents per pound of glucose excluding evaporation. The study was performed with a storage and Marshal and Swift Index of 469 (2). Updating costs for inflation to MSI=707 and adding typical evaporation and storage costs for a similar case, the price of glucose obtained is 19 cents per pound. Processing with Rutgers-C-30 results in a savings of approximately 33% when corn stover cost is excluded. At corn stover costing 30 dollars per ton processing with QM9414 results in a cost of 28 cents per pound, six cents per pound higher than the Rut-C-30 estimated cost.

# 8.2. Process Alternatives

#### 8.2.1. Enzyme Production

. Э

Figure 8-9 presents a summary of enzyme production cost in \$ / million units versus fermentation productivity in IU/ 1/hr. Under current processing conditions, batch production is most economical with cellulase cost in the order of \$4-5 per million units. Continuous processing with cell recycle may approach batch production costs. In order to operate the base case plant design with either a continuous or а continuous cell recycle scheme it will be necessary to enhance cellulase concentration produced along with increased productivity. Current material balance constraints and optimum operation specifications would not permit production of cellulase in the 3.5 to 5.5 IU/ml concentration range. Estimates rely on the use of inexpensive carbon and nitrogen sources instead of laboratory grade materials. At current selling prices, Solka Floc and proteose peptone would add 7 cents to the cost per pound of glucose, a figure equivalent in magnitude to the entire cost of producing enzyme with cheap carbon and nitrogen sources.

# 8.2.2. Enzyme Recovery

Figure 8-10 presents a cost of operating an enzyme recovery system versus required size. Ultrafiltration costs are approximately \$4 per 1000 gallons of capacity. This cost is approximately three times higher than the cost of



# XBL818-6424

Figure 8.9 Cellulase Production Cost Versus Productivity for Various Production Methods.



Figure 8.10. Cost of Enzyme Recovery Versus Size for Ultrafiltration and Equilibrium Contacting.

4 2 e î

processing a similar volume through an equilibrium contacting enzyme recovery scheme. Both methods are less expensive than producing an equivalent increment of fresh enzyme for all cases examined. Typically equilibrium contacting costs 1.5 to 0.5 dollars per million units recovered, ultrafiltration costs 0.5 to 3.8 dollars per million units and batch enzyme production 4-5 dollars per million units.

#### 8.2.3. Steam Explosion

Table 8-2 presents a summary of hydrolysis conditions and glucose production cost for an economic evaluation conducted on hydrolysis data with steam exploded corn stover. the cost of pretreatment is unknown and the range of As hydrolysis experiments conducted is limited, an optimum manufacturing cost was not sought. The best cost observed was 10 cents per pound excluding corn stover cost and 15 cents per pound including corn stover cost at \$30/ton. This represents a savings of approximately 30% over the base case. The glucose production costs observed lead to ethanol prices of 1.75-2.50 dollars per gallon, still not economical.

Qubetrete Orea	Enz. Activity IU/ml	Residence time (hr)	Glucose Cost ¢/lb			
wt %			C.S. 0\$/ton	C.S. \$30/ton		
10	1	48	12.3	18.9		
10	3.5	48	13.0	18.0		
15	3.5	48	10.4	15.4		
25	3.5	48	11.9	18.5		

# Table 8-2 Glucose Production Cost With Steam Exploded Corn Stover

# References: Chapter 8

- Maiorella, B.L., Ph.D. thesis in preparation. University of California, Berkeley.
- Yang, R.D., Sciamanna, A.F., Freitas, R.P. and Wilke,
   C.R. Biotech. & Bioeng., 23, 163, (1981).

9. Conclusions and Recommendations

### 9.1. Conclusions

### 9.1.1. Experimental

The following conclusions may be drawn from the experimental results discussed in Chapter 5:

- 1. Maximum conversion obtained with acid treated corn stover and cellulase from <u>T</u>. reesei Rut-C-30 was approximately 55%. In view of the wide ratio of cellulase activity investigated, further increases in yield with this process are unlikely.
- 2. A high level of B-glucosidase, in the range of 1.8 Bglucosidase units to FPA units was demonstrated necessary to reduce cellobiose accumulation to low levels.
- 3. Conversions in the order of 80 percent were obtained during enzymatic hydrolysis of steam exploded corn stover. This constitutes a significant increase over the conversions obtained with acid treated corn stover.
- 4. <u>T. reesei</u> Rut-C-30 may be grown to produce cellulase using water washed steam exploded corn stover. An adaptation period may enable the organism to grow on unwashed material.
- 5. Preliminary evaluation indicates that hydrolysis results obtained with corn stover may be described by a

kinetic model developed by Wald (Section 5.6). Good correlation will require measurement of initial rates and inhibition constants specific for corn stover.

### 9.1.2. Process Evaluation

The following observations were made from economic evaluation results presented in Chapter 8:

- 1. A process design which includes dilute acid pretreatment, equilibrium contacting for enzyme recovery and batch enzyme production leads to glucose production costs of 12-22 cents per pound for corn stover cost of 0-30 dollars per ton. Corn stover is the dominant cost at 30 dollars/ton accounting for 40% of the cost of glucose. Treatment of corn stover cost as an independent variable in evaluations is not possible since the process optimum is a strong function of the corn stover cost.
- 2. Comparison of the cost of producing glucose with the base case process or with a previous process using  $\underline{T}$ . <u>reesei</u> QM9414 shows that processing with Rut-C-30 leads to cost reduction in the order of 33%. This is primarily due to use of higher substrate concentration in hydrolysis, production of cellulase at higher activities and to a lesser extent increased corn stover conversion.

- 3. Enzyme production is the single most expensive processing step, accounting for 40% of the processing costs excluding substrate cost. Cellulase production alternatives, continuous and continuous cell recycle schemes, cannot currently compete with batch production due to lower productivity and more dilute product streams. Cell recycle may replace batch production, but further work is needed.
- Ultrafiltration as a means of recovering enzymes 4. from hydrolysis product stream is considerably more the expensive than the equilibrium contacting scheme employed in the base case. However, if equilibrium contacting enzyme recovery is not capable of preserving acceptable cellulase component ratio, ultrafiltraan tion is still less expensive than not recycling enzymes.
- 5. Preliminary evaluation of hydrolysis with steam exploded corn stover shows that glucose may be produced at a cost of 10-15 cents per pound for corn stover ranging from 0-30 dollars per ton. This represents a cost reduction of approximately 33%. Optimization of this process may lead to further cost reduction.
- 6. At current glucose production costs, ethanol may not be manufactured profitably in conjunction with this process. With dominance of corn stover costs, significant processing cost reductions may bring about only modest

reduction in the price of manufacturing ethanol from corn stover; for example, at a glucose cost of 22 cents per pound, 7 cents per pound is corn stover cost, 6 cents per pound is enzyme production cost. A reduction in the cost of producing enzyme of 50% leads to a glucose cost reduction of only 14%.

#### 9.2. Recommendations

# 9.2.1. Experimental

- Research in hydrolysis of steam exploded corn stover presents an opportunity for process improvement and should be pursued.
- 2. Research aimed at replacing expensive fermentation medium nutrients and improving productivity will be necessary to reduce enzyme production costs. The use of steam exploded corn stover as substrate constitutes a potential solution to the high cost of fermentation media currently employed.
- 3. Understanding of <u>T</u>. <u>reesei</u> Rut-C-30's metabolism will be necessary to enable production of cellulase in a consistent manner.
- 4. An understanding of the adsorption behavior of cellulase onto corn stover and of the performance of recycled cellulase is needed to evaluate the suitability of equilibrium contacting enzyme recovery. Enzyme

recovery by ultrafiltration\_should\_be\_evaluated\_as\_analternative.

- 5. Determination of solids filtration behavior based on filtration theory and measurement of corn stover solution viscosities will improve economic evaluation estimates.
- 6. Evaluation of a substrate having a higher cellulose content than corn stover may be desirable to reduce costs.

# 9.2.2. Process Evaluation

- An estimate of the cost of corn stover for use in a hydrolysis plant is necessary before meaningful process evaluation may be conducted.
- 2. Likewise, an independent estimate of the cost of pretreating corn stover by steam explosion is required if this method is going to be compared with existing forms of pretreatment.
- 3. A statistical approach to evaluating the cost of capital is recommended as it will enable assessment of uncertainties involved.

Appendix A. Analytical Procedures

<u>A.1</u> <u>Composition Determination for Cellulosic Materials</u> (1)

# A.l.l. Milling and Sieving

One hundred grams or more of air dry material is ground in a Wiley mill through a 2 mm. screen. The ground material is sieved through 0.25mm and 0.35mm opening screens to collect the 0.25mm to 0.35mm fraction, which is used for subsequent analysis.

The material is dried in an 105°C oven for at least 4 hours or until no weight change occurs with further drying.

### A.1.2. Extraction

An accurately weighed portion of the dry material is placed in a tared glass extraction crucible equipped with a coarse (40-60 uM pore size) fritted glass filter. The material is extracted in а Soxhlet apparatus with benzene/ethanol (2:1) for at least 6 hours or until no change in weight occurs after additional extraction. The material is sucked dry and placed in a 105°C oven to dry. The change in weight of the material during extraction is taken as the extractives content, i.e.

% Extractives =

(Gross wt. pre-extract) -Gross wt. post extract)
------ x 100
(Gross wt. pre-extract) - (Tare wt.)

Extraction Factor = 100 - (% extractives) 100

The extraction factor above is used to correct values of the assays performed on extracted material, subsequently.

#### A.1.3. Exhaustive Hydrolysis

A convenient amount of dry extracted material is accurately weighed and placed in a vial equipped with a teflonlined screw top. 0.5 gm of material and a 9.5 dram vial are convenient sizes. One ml. of 72 w/w% H2SO, is added per 0.1 gm of material. The slurry is mixed on a vortex mixer, allowed to stand 3 minutes and mixed again. The vials are placed in a 30°C bath for one hour during which time they are removed and mixed at least three times. The slurry is quantitatively transferred to a 250 ml Erlenmeyer flask using 28 ml  $H_2O$  per ml of 72 w/w%  $H_2SO_4$  used. This dilution produces 4 w/w%  $H_2SO_4$  solution for the secondary hydrolysis. flasks are capped with watch glasses and placed in a The preheated autoclave. The flasks are heated for one hour at which time the autoclave is slowly allowed to depressurize to prevent the samples from boiling over.

#### Appendix A

The hot solutions are individually filtered through dry porcelain filtering crucibles. The residues are washed repeatedly with hot  $H_2^{0}$ . The crucibles are dried in the  $105^{\circ}C$  oven, cooled in a desiccator and weighed. They are then placed in a muffle furnace ( $600^{\circ}C$ ) and ashed for at least 6 hours or until no weight change occurs after additional heating. The ashed crucibles are cooled in a desiccator and weighed. The change in weight after ashing is taken as the total acid insoluble content of the extracted material. This value is multiplied by the extraction factor to determine the content in the unextracted material, i.e.

% Total Acid Insolubles =

(Gross wt. residue & crucible) - (Gross wt. after ashing) (wt. starting sample)

x (extraction factor) x 100

The supernatants and collected washings are neutralized to pH 5-6 by addition of  $CaCO_3$ . The  $CaCO_3$  must be added slowly since foaming is a problem. The neutralized solution is filtered free of  $CaSO_4$  precipitate through a medium porosity fritted glass funnel. The precipitate is washed several times with  $H_2O$ . The total volume is accurately measured by dilution to a fixed volume in a volumetric flask. A portion of the supernatant is then centrifuged to remove any residual solid and saved for further analysis.
## A.1.4. Carbohydrate Analysis

Liquors are analyzed by the glucose oxidase-peroxidase (GOP) and gas-liquid chromatography (GLC) methods. The GOP method is a highly specific assay for monomer glucose. Many variations of the method have been used (2,3). For our assay the reagent is made as follows: 1200 units of purified glucose oxidase (1 ml of Sigma Chemical Co., type V) and 10 mg peroxidase (Sigma Chemical Co., type II, 125-200 purpurogallin units per 1 mg) is added to 500 ml of a 1% solution (or 2.5 ml of 4%) of ortho-dianisidine dihydrochloride (Sigma Chemical Co.) in H<sub>2</sub>O. Care must be taken when handling o-dianisidine, for it is a known carcinogen. 8 ml of this reagent is added to 2 ml of sample containing between 10 and 200 µg of glucose in a test tube. The tubes incubated in a 37°C bath for one hour. The reaction is are stopped by addition of 4 drops of concentrated HCl. The tubes are allowed to stand at least for 5 minutes before reading their absorbance at 420 nm. against a reagent blank. The color is stable for several hours. It is a good idea to do color blanks of each solution since there may be absorbance at 420 nm. by the solution alone. Also when working with new material one should "spike" these solutions with known amounts of standard glucose to see if the sensitivity changes, an indication that interference is occurring.

A standard curve should be made with each run. The standards should be made from pure glucose and made at least a day in advance so that mutarotation can be accomplished (GOP is specific for B-D-glucose).

Once the glucose content of a hydrolysis liquor is known the value is converted to give the weight of the sugar in the starting solid. This is done by multiplying the concentration of glucose in the supernatant by the total volume of the supernatant, by a factor converting the weight of glucose as a monomer to its weight as a polymer, and by dividing by a factor to correct for loss of sugar during exhaustive hydrolysis. This gives the glucan content in the extracted material. Multiplying by the extractive factor gives the content in the original material, i.e.,

% Glucan (polymerized glucose) = (glucose, g/L) x
polymerization factor) x (volume supernatant, L) /
(weight of material assayed, gm) x
extraction factor / recovery factor x 100

Table A-1 presents values of polymerization and recovery factors. Gas-liquid chromatography (GLC) allows quantification of each monomer sugar, including arabinose, xylose, mannose, galactose, and glucose. In order for sugars to be analyzed by GLC they must be free of  $H_2O$  and made volatile by derivatization.

A volume of sugar solution containing from 1 to 10 mg of sugar is freeze dried to remove all  $H_2O$ . The dry residue

## TABLE A-1

# Recovery and Polymerization Factors

Sugar	Polymerization Factor			
Arabinose	•	0.88		
Galactose	•	0.9		
Glucose		0.9		
Mannose		0.9		
Xylose		0.88	· .	

## POLYMERIZATION FACTORS

## RECOVERY FACTORS

Suga r	Recovery Factor		
Arabinose	0.924		
Galactose	0.957		
Glucose	0.950		
Mannose	0.916		
Xylose	0.866		

## Appendix A

is brought up in 1 ml of dimethylsulfoxide solvent, containing about 5 q/L 2-OH-pyridine and 2 q/L myo-inositol, in a 1 dram vial with a teflon lined screw top. The vial is placed in a  $40^{\circ}$ C oven and allowed to equilibrate at least 6 hours. After equilibration, 1 ml of hexamethyldisilazane and 1/2 ml of chlorotrimethylsilane are added to the vial which is mixed and allowed to stand for about 1 hour. Two phases are lower phase is discarded. To the upper phase formed. The is added an equal volume of H<sub>2</sub>O. After mixing the two phases are allowed to separate and the lower phase is discarded. The upper phase is dried by adding anhydrous Na SO,. The derivatized sugars are now ready for analysis.

A column from 1-3 feet in length containing a liquid phase of low to moderate polarity (e.g. SE30, OV-17, SF96) on a diatomacious earth support (e.g. Chromasorb G or W) which has been acid washed and silylated should be used. We have had success with a low liquid coatings (1-3%). Using an Aerograph 1520 gas chromatograph, equipped with a temperature programmer it has been found that an initial temperature of 120°C to 150°C followed by a programmed temperature rise of 8<sup>°</sup>C per minute to be a good combination to give short analysis time with good resolution. Carrier gas flows of 20-30 cc/min. were used.

The recorder peaks are measured with a disc integrator. We use a Leeds and Northrup Speedomax G Model S Recorder equipped with a Disc Chart Integrator-Model 203. The sugar

### Appendix A

derivative peaks are quantified in terms of the area of the internal standard peak (myo-inositol). For each run the sugar peak areas are divided by the area of the internal standard peak, i.e.,

Area sugar peak x attenuation Sugar peak ratio units = ------Area internal standard peak x attenuation

This ratio is then compared to a standard curve made by analyzing standard sugar solutions by the above method and plotting standard sugar ratio units vs. weight of sugar.

Once the quantity of a sugar is determined by GLC it can be converted back to its weight in the starting material in much the same way as described for glucose in the GOP method, i.e.,

% Polymerized sugar in solid = (sugar in solution, g/L)
x (polymerization factor) x (volume supernate, L)

/ (volume freeze dried, ml/l ml DMSO solvent)

/ (recovery factor) / (weight of material assayed, gm)
x extraction factor x 100

## <u>A.1.5.</u> $H_2O$ Wash

Material which has been extracted with benzene/ethanol is washed with hot  $H_2^0$  to remove acid insoluble material other than lignin. This is done by placing a known weight of material in a tared glass extraction crucible into a Soxhlet apparatus. Boiling chips and antifoam are added to the  $H_2^0$  in the distillation flask to prevent bumping or foaming. The material should be washed overnight. After drying in the  $105^{\circ}C$  oven the washed material is weighed, and an  $H_2^0$  extraction factor is determined as follows:

H<sub>2</sub><sup>O</sup> Wash Factor = (Gross wt. post wash) - (Tare wt.) (Gross wt. pre-wash) - (Tare wt.)

## A.1.6. Exhaustive Hydrolysis

Exhaustive acid hydrolysis is performed on the dry  $H_2^0$ washed material. The procedure is exactly as before, the only exception being that the liquor generated by the hydrolysis is neither neutralized or saved. The residue collected in the dry porcelain crucible is washed, dried, weighed, ashed, and weighed again. The change in weight after ashing is taken as the lignin content of the extracted,  $H_2^0$  washed material. Multiplication by the extraction and  $H_2^0$  wash factors gives the lignin content of the starting material, i.e.,

The difference between the total acid insolubles content and

the lignin content gives the acid insolubles content of the starting material, i.e.,

% Acid Insolubles =

(% total acid insolubles) - (% lignin)

A.2 Reducing Sugar Determination - DNS Method

Procedure:

- A.2.1 0.5 mlof sugar or enzyme solution are transferred to a test tube.
- A.2.2 1.5 ml of DNS reagent are added to the test tube. The mixture is mixed and covered with a steel cap.
- A.2.3 The sample tube is boiled for 5 minutes then cooled.
- A.2.4 To the test tube are added 10 ml of water.
- A.2.5 Reducing sugars are determined colorimetrically at 600 nm. and a 0.03 mm slit.
- A.2.6 Standard solutions of glucose in the range of 0.5 to 2.5 mg/ml are run concurrently.

#### A.3 FPA (Filter Paper Activity) ANALYTICAL PROCEDURE (2)

- A.3.1 Materials, Reagents, etc.:
  - 50°C bath. 1.
  - 2. 16 x 100 mm test tubes.
  - filter paper strips, 1x6 cm. (50 mg.); 3. cut from #1 Whatman.
  - 0.05 M acetate buffer, pH 5.0. 4.
  - Glucose standard solution, 2 mg/ml in d.H<sub>2</sub>O. 5.
  - 6. DNS
- A.3.2 Preliminary Preparation:
  - Roll filter paper strips into tight coils. 1.
  - 2. Dilute enzyme sample to give a final FPA of 0.3 - 0.5 mg/ml.
  - Dilute standard glucose solution to 2.0, 1.0 3. and 0.5 mg/ml concentrations.
- Preparation of Test Tubes: A.3.3
  - Activity Tubes. 1.
    - Add 1.0 ml of diluted enzyme to each of a) two test tubes containing 1.0 ml. acetate buffer (this is 1:1 dilution = x 2) Background Tubes (BKGD)
  - 2.
    - Add 1.0 ml of diluted enzyme to a test a) tube containing 1.0 ml. acetate buffer; cap tubes (enzýme BKGD).
    - b) Add filter paper coil to tube containing 1 ml.  $H_2O + 1$  ml. buffer (filter paper BKGD) .
  - 3. Standard Tube
    - Add 1.0 ml. of standard to each of two test tubes containing 1.0 ml. acetate a) buffer and cap tubes.
- A.3.4 Incubation of Test Tubes:
  - Add a filter paper coil to each activity tube, 1. so that the coil lies on its side completely submerged in the enzyme solution. Cap tubes.

- 2. Place all activity, background and standard tubes in a 50 C bath for 60 minutes.
- 3. Add 5 ml. DNS to each tube.
- 4. Vortex all tubes taking care to disintegrate filter paper in activity tubes.
- Place all tubes in 100°C bath for 10 minutes, followed by cooling in ambient bath 3-4 minutes. Vortex.
- 6. Clear filter paper debris in activity tubes with a glass rod and transfer cleared solutions to new tubes.
- 7. Read absorbance at 600 nm., using  $d.H_2^0$  as a blank.
- A.3.5 Activity Calculation:
  - Plot absorbance vs. mg. glucose in standard tubes to obtain standard curve. (Figure A-1 shows a typical curve).
  - 2. Determine mg. glucose in activity and BKGD tubes by use of standard curve.
  - 3. Subtract mg. of enzyme and filter paper BKGD from mg. in activity tube to obtain net enzyme activity. Record as:

### FPA (x l/dil).

e.g., 0.50 (x5 x2) if enzyme was initially diluted 1:4 (= x5) and net activity is 0.5 mg/ml.

NOTE: Dilution of the enzyme includes the dilution by addition of acetate buffer. If enzyme was originally diluted 1:9, the dilution is 1/20, since addition of buffer further dilutes the enzyme by 1/2.



XBL 819-6479

Figure A.1. FPA Dilution Curve Cellulase from T. reesei Rut-C-30 1 ml enz + 1 ml buffer + 1 x 6 cm Whatman #1 Filter Paper 50°C, 60 min static bath. Assayed by DNS, <u>in situ</u>.

A.4 <u>Cellobiohydrolase (Activity Toward Cotton)</u> <u>ANALYTICAL</u> PROCEDURE (2)

A.4.1 The C<sub>1</sub> assay is identical to the FPA assay, with the following exceptions.

÷Ē

- a) 50 mg weighed absorbent <u>Red Cross</u> cotton is used as substrate rather than filter paper rolled into compact ball.
- A.4.2 a) Use FPA enzyme-BKGD for C<sub>1</sub>-BKGD if both assays are performed concurrently. Differences in enzyme dilution for the two assays should be taken into account.
  - b) Use 50 mg. cotton in tube containing 1 ml  $H_2^0$  + 1 ml buffer (cotton BKGD).
- A.4.3 Incubation is for 24 hours at 50<sup>°</sup>C rather than 60 minutes. Rubber stoppers are used to prevent excessive evaporation during incubation.
- A.4.4 The FPA standard curve is used to calculate C<sub>1</sub> activity.
- A.4.5 Record as C, activity (x 1/dil) e.g., 0.75 (x10) if initial enzyme dilution was 1:4 and net activity is 0.775 mg/ml.
- NOTE: To obtain approximately the same concentration of DNS sugars as is obtained in the FPA assay, enzyme for C assay should be one half as concentrated as is for FPA.

### Appendix A

A.5 B-1,4-Glucanase Activity (CMC) ASE) ANALYTICAL ACTIVITY (2) Materials, Reagents, etc.: A.5.1 50°C bath. 1. 16 x 100 ml. test tubes. 2. 2% CMC in acetate buffer. 3. 4. DNS. A.5.2 Preparation of Test Tubes: Activity tube: 1. Add 1.0 ml. CMC to a test tube. a) 2. CMC-BKGD tube: Add 1.0 ml. CMC and 0.1 ml. d.H<sub>2</sub>O to a) a test tube and cap. Incubation of Test Tubes A.5.3 Place CMC-BKGD tubes in 50°C bath. 1. Turn timer on and quickly but accurately add 2. 0.1 ml. enzyme to activity tube, swirl to mix and rinse dispenser tip several times in mixture. (This is a 1:10 dilution = x 11.) Place the activity tube in the 50  $^{\circ}$ C bath at 3. the instant the timer reaches the first half minute. At 30 minutes on the timer, remove tubes from 4. bath and quickly 5.0 ml. DNS. Place tubes in 100 C bath for 10 minutes, 5. followed by cooling ambient bath 3-4 minutes. Vortex. Read absorbance at 600 nm., using d.H<sub>2</sub>O as 6. a blank.

- A.5.4 Activity Calculation:
  - The C standard curve is used to calculate mg/ml<sup>x</sup>glucose in the CMC-BKGD tube and activity tube. (Figure A-2).





### Appendix A

A.6 B-Glucosidase ANALYTICAL ACTIVITY (2)

#### A.6.1 Standards:

- 1. Serial dilute standard to 0.275, 0.55 and 1.1 mg/ml with d.H\_O.
- Add 0.1 ml of each<sup>2</sup>standard to 1.0 ml 0.025 M 2. acetate buffer in separate test tubes to obtain 0.025, .050 and 0.100 mg/ml standards.
- Subtract reagent blank (5 ml GOP + 1.1 ml 3. 0.025 M acetate buffer for zero intercept.)

A.6.2 Enzyme Background (ENZ-BKGD):

- Add 0.1 ml dilute enzyme and 1.0 ml acetate 1. buffer to a test tube.
- Cellobiose Background (CB-BKGD): A.6.3.
  - Add 1.0 ml cellobiose and 0.1 ml d.H.O to a 1. test tube.

A.6.4 Test Samples (Activity Tubes):

> 1. Add 0.1 ml dilute enzyme to 1.0 ml 1.25% CB in a test tube. (This is a 1:10 enzyme dilution = x 11.)

A.6.5 All of Above Tubes (use chronological procedure for activity tubes):

- Place in 50°C bath for 30 minutes. 1.
- Add 5.0 ml GOP reagent.
   Place in 35 to 40 C bath for 30 minutes.
- Add 3 drops concentrated HCl to each tube 4.
- while mixing by vortex.
- 5. Let stand for 45 minutes.
- Read absorbance at 400 nm. 6.

A.6.6 Activity Calculation:  The GOP standard curve is used to calculate mg/ml glucose in BKGD tubes and activity tubes. (Figure A-3). Subtract CB-BKGD and ENZ-BKGD from mg/ml in activity tube to obtain net enzyme activity. Record as:

Cellobiase activity (x 1/dil)

e.g., 0.090 (x 22) if initial enzyme dilution was 1:1 (= x 2) and net activity is 0.090 mg/ml.



XBL 819-6481



A.7 Enzyme Precipitation by Acetone (2)

It is useful, for economic analysis, to determine how much of the original enzyme activity remains in solution after an enzymatic hydrolysis. A practical hydrolysis, however, produces DNS sugars in amounts which render the direct measurement of hydrolysate activities impractical. This situation can be remedied by adding an appropriate volume of acetone to the hydrolysate. Most of the enzyme will precipitate, while most of the DNS sugars will remain in solution.

The following acetone precipitation procedure is based primarily on the thesis research of Richard T. Ige, June 19774 (LBL-30577). Experience subsequent to this research has been incorporated.

### Procedure:

- A.7.1 Add 1 part enzyme and 3 parts acetone to a 15 ml Corex centrifuge tube. Gently invert the tube several times to mix. Allow the tube to sit at room temperature approximately 15 minutes.
- A.7.2 Centrifuge at 10K rpm for 10 minutes.
- A.7.3 Gently pour off and discard supernate.
- A.7.4 Invert a cuvette dryer onto the Corex tube and apply vacuum until acetone appears to be removed (2-3 minutes). Over-drying or leaving tubes for extended periods (overnight) can result in difficulty of precipitate redissolution.

- A.7.5 <u>Immediately</u> add appropriate volume of d.H<sub>2</sub>O, containing 0.02% NaN<sub>3</sub>, to Corex tube. Gently vortex and cap with parafilm or rubber stopper.
- A.7.6 Allow precipitate to soak 2-3 hours, with gentle vortexing every 15-30 minutes.
- A.7.7 Control curves should be obtained using the <u>same</u> enzyme as was used in the hydrolysis experiments. Control curves include an unprecipitated activity curve and an acetone precipitated activity curve. the curves are obtained at the same time and in the same manner as the hydrolysate samples.

The example relating initial DNS sugars vs. DNS sugars recovered by acetone precipitation should, likewise, not be used as a general standard, since this relationship has been found to be variable.

Examples of IU recovery by acetone precipitation:

I<sub>P</sub> = initial activity, I<sub>R</sub> = activity recovered by acetone

FPA: 0.5 mg/ml = 0.0463 IU

 $I_R = 1.33 I_P - 0.1$ , for  $0.1 \le I_P \le 0.25$   $C_1: 0.5 \text{ mg/ml} = 0.00193 \text{ IU}$  $I_P = 1.33 I_P - 0.01$ , for  $0.01 \le I_P \le 0.25$ 

 $I_R = 1.33 I_P - 0.01$ , for 0.01 <=  $I_P <= 0.025$ D.: 0.5 mg/ml = 0.0925 IU

 $I_R = 1.33 I_P - 4.0$ , for  $4.0 \le I_P \le 10.0$ CD(-g): 0.05 mg/ml = 0.00926 IU

$$I_p = 1.33 I_p - 0.177$$
, for 0.16 <=  $I_p <= 4.0$ 

(This example should not be used as a general standard.)

Example of DNS sugars recovered by acetone precipitation:

DNS sugars recovered =

 $0.25 \times (initial DNS sugars) - 0.70$ 

### Appendix A

A.8	Soluble	<u>Extra-Cellular</u>	<u>Protein</u>	ANALYTICAL	PROCEDURE
(2)				· .	

A.8.1 Initial Preparation of Reagent, Standard Tubes and Reaction Tubes:

- Add 1 part NaK Tartrate solution to 100 parts CO<sub>3</sub> solution and mix well. (It is necessary to add NaK Tartrate before Cu<sup>++</sup>.
- 2. Add 1 part Cu<sup>++</sup> solution to above and mix well, to complete SP reagent.
- 3. Dilution of bovine albumin stock solution: Serial dilution std to 1.0, 0.5 and 0.25 g/L in 1 ml aliquots.
- 4. Add 5 ml SP reagent to a number of spect. tubes appropriate to analyzing the required number of standards and samples. These tubes comprise the reaction tubes.
- 5. Dilute 2 N Folin reagent to 1 N in appropriate volume to complete assay.
- A.8.2 Incubation of Standard and Sample Tubes
  - Add 1.0 ml of each standard and sample to separate reaction tubes, using a new dispenser tip for each. After addition of a standard or sample, swirl reaction tube to mix and wash dispenser tip two or three times in reaction tube. Vortex all tubes.
  - 2. Allow all reaction tubes to set at room temperature for approximately 30 minutes.
- A.8.3 Development of Reaction Tubes
  - While vortexing each reaction tube, quickly add 0.5 ml 1 N Folin phenol reagent, remove tube from vortex and quickly vortex again.

- 2. Allow tubes to set at room temperature for approximately 30 minutes.
- 3. Read absorbance at 700 nm. and plot standard curve.
- 4. Calculate SP in samples by use of standard curve.

## References: Appendix A

- 1. Sciamanna, A.F., Long, W., Freitas, R. and Wilke, C.R., "Procedures for Analysis of Solids and Liquors From Cellulosic Sources." University of California, Berkeley, UCLBL-5967 (1977).
- 2. Sciamanna, A.F. and Long, W., Internal Laboratory Procedures.

# APPENDIX B: HYDROLYSIS DATA



XBL 819-6482

- B.1 Reducing Sugar Concentration Vs. Time.
  - California Corn Stover-Acid Treated Cellulase from <u>T. reesei</u> Rut-C-30 1.
  - 2.



XBL 819-6483

B.2.1. Component Sugar Concentration Vs. Time. Cellulase 2.5 IU/ml <u>T</u>. <u>reesei</u> Rut-C-30 Indiana Corn Stover. Acid Treated.

Ŧ







Figure B.3.1 Sugar Concentration vs Time, Hydrolysis of Steam Exploded Corn Stover.

-

and and a second second



hours

XBL 819-6486 Sugar Concentration Vs. Time, Hydrolysis of Steam Exploded Corn Stover. Figure B.3.2.

1.

Cellulase from T. reesei Rut-C-30. Steam Exploded California Corn Stover, 15% by wt. 2.

This report was done with support from the Department of Energy. Any conclusions or opinions expressed in this report represent solely those of the author(s) and not necessarily those of The Regents of the University of California, the Lawrence Berkeley Laboratory or the Department of Energy.

Reference to a company or product name does not imply approval or recommendation of the product by the University of California or the U.S. Department of Energy to the exclusion of others that may be suitable. TECHNICAL INFORMATION DEPARTMENT LAWRENCE BERKELEY LABORATORY UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA BERKELEY, CALIFORNIA 94720